# CHARACTERIZATION OF THE ANTI-TUMOUR IMMUNE RESPONSE FOLLOWING TREATMENT WITH AN INFECTED LEUKEMIA CELL VACCINE

Holly Dempster

This thesis is submitted to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Masters of Science degree in Biochemistry

> Supervisor: Dr. John Bell Co-supervisor: Dr. Natasha Kekre

Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology Faculty of Medicine University of Ottawa

© Holly Dempster, Ottawa, Canada, 2018

#### ABSTRACT

Current treatment methods for Acute Leukemia (AL) only provide temporary therapeutic efficacy as most patients will experience relapse within 2 years following first remission. Our lab has determined that vaccination with autologous cells infected with oncolytic virus MG1 can provide durable cures in a pre-clinical mouse model of AL. However, the mechanism(s) by which the infected cell vaccine (ICV) stimulates T cell dependent anti-tumour immunity and provides protection against tumour growth is unknown. This thesis was aimed to determine 1) what antigen presenting cell populations are activated post ICV immunization and 2) what T cell subsets are important in developing anti-tumour immunity during ICV immunization. My thesis has demonstrated that ICV immunization is more effective at inducing *in vivo* dendritic cell activation compared to irradiated L1210 cells alone and this activation may be a reason as to why we see improved anti-tumour efficacy in our ICV model. In addition, we have determined that CD4 T cells play an essential anti-leukemic role during ICV immunization and that neutralizing antibody production is a CD4 T cell dependent mechanism. Our data also demonstrates that both CD4 and CD8 T cell populations from ICV immunized mice provide a leukemia-specific antitumour immune response. Taken together, this data suggests that CD4 T cells may be acting as helper T cells to aid in the robust activation of leukemia-specific anti-tumour CD8 T cells. Our pre-clinical data characterizing the immune response has improved our understanding of the mechanism(s) which contribute to the efficacy of the ICV and will help provide a rationale framework with which to begin translating this treatment to clinical trials.

# ACKNOWLEGDEMENTS

I have so many wonderful and supportive people to thank and acknowledge for helping me conduct research and complete my thesis at the University of Ottawa.

First and foremost, I want to thank my extremely intelligent and supportive co-supervisor, Dr. Natasha Kekre. I am proud to say that I was one of Natasha's first biochemistry students! Natasha has been such a supportive supervisor while also giving me plenty of independence to create my own experiments in the lab. Thank you for being a great supervisor to work for. I really hope to see you in the future! You have been a true role model.

I would also like to thank my supervisor, Dr. John Bell, for giving me this extraordinary opportunity to work and study in his lab. Dr. Bell has created an exceptional lab full of top-notch researchers, that I was proud to work beside.

I would also like to thank Dr. Harry Atkins for taking time out of his busy schedule to meet with me and discuss research – I really appreciate your support.

Thank you, Dr. Rebecca Auer, for always giving me thought-provoking feedback and ideas at lab meetings and taking me in as a student!

I want to thank Dr. Mike Kennedy for being a very supportive mentor in the lab. Thank you, Mike, for taking so much time out of your days to train me and brainstorm about experiments. I was very lucky to have a supportive mentor that always kept me on my toes.

I would like to thank all of the members of the Bell and the Auer lab. All of you have created a great work environment. Specifically, I would like to thank MC for helping me learn new techniques in the lab and giving me advice. I would also like to thank Julia – you are amazing at IV injections! Thank you for coming in on the weekends for me too.

From the Auer lab, I would specifically like to thank Leonard, Katherine, Sarwat and Christiano. Leonard – heat maps, enough said. Sarwat, thank you for helping me with my massive APC experiment! Thank you, Chris, for harvesting lymph nodes and peritoneal washes – you have been a great teacher.

And of course, I would like to thank the members of the Kekre lab! Elaine, you have been a great lab mate. Also, I would like to thank Leah, our summer student, for being very hard working and helping me with the ELISAs.

I would like to thank my TAC members as well – Dr. Morgan Fullerton and Dr. Juthaporn Cowan. I appreciated your guidance and support.

Lastly, I would like to thank my wonderful boyfriend Jeremy. You helped motivate me through my lab work and thesis writing. Thank you for being so supportive.

Thank you to everyone for helping me complete my thesis. I truly appreciate it.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEGDEMENTS	III
LIST OF ABBREVATIONS	VI
1 INTRODUCTION	1
<ul> <li>1.1 ACUTE LEUKEMIA</li></ul>	1 1 2 3 3 3 4 8 9 11 13 16 16 17
2 HYPOTHESIS & OBJECTIVES	18
2.1 Hypothesis         2.1.1 The model         2.2 OBJECTIVES	24 24 25
3 MATERIAL & METHODS	26
3.1 Reagents         3.2 Cell lines         3.3 Mice         3.4 MG1 virus propagation and titering         3.5 Vaccine preparations         3.6 Vaccine administration and leukemia challenge	26 27 27 27 28 28
<ul> <li>3.7 IN VIVO T CELL DEPLETION</li></ul>	29 29 30 30 31
3.12 In vivo killing assay 3.13 IFN-Gamma ELISpot	32

3.14 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
4 RESULTS	
4.1 WHAT ANTIGEN PRESENTING CELL POPULATIONS (APCS) ARE ACTIVATED POST ICV	
IMMUNIZATION?	
4.1.1 Flow cytometry for antigen presenting cell (APC) populations	35
4.1.1.1 Dendritic cell activation	
4.1.1.2 B cell activation	
4.2 Does MG1 INFECTION AND IRRADIATION INCREASE RANTES SECRETION?	
4.3 What T cell subsets are important in developing anti-tumour immunity du	JRING
ICV IMMUNIZATION?	
4.3.1 In vivo T cell depletion	
4.3.2 Adoptive T cell transfer	58
4.3.4 In vivo killing assay	
4.3.5 IFN-gamma ELISpot	
4.4 IDENTIFYING T CELL FUNCTIONS IN RESPONSE TO THE ICV	
4.4.1 Neutralizing antibodies against MG1	
5 DISCUSSION	
5 1 A CTULL THON OF A DC DODULL THONG DOOT ICK IN HER HULL THON	87
5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POSTIC VIMMUNIZATION	
5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION	
5.1.1 RANTES secretion	
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 92 94 95
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 92 94 95 95 96
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 92 94 95 95 96 98
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 94 95 95 96 98 98
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POST IC V IMMUNIZATION.</li> <li>5.1.1 RANTES secretion</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 94 95 95 96 98 98 98 98 98
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POSTIC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 94 95 94 95 96 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 99 99 99
<ul> <li>5.1 ACTIVATION OF APC POPULATIONS POSTIC V IMMUNIZATION</li></ul>	90 91 92 92 92 94 95 94 95 96 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 99 104

# LIST OF ABBREVATIONS

AL	Acute Leukemia
ALL	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia
AML	Acute Myeloid Leukemia
APC	Antigen Presenting Cell
ATP	Adenosine Tri-Phosphate
BMDC	Bone Marrow Derived Dendritic Cell
CAR	Chimeric Antigen Receptor
CLL	Chronic Lymphoblastic Leukemia
CML	Chronic Myeloid Leukemia
CR1	Complete Remission 1
CR2	Complete Remission 2
CRS	Cytokine Release Syndrome
CRT	Calreticulin
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte Associated Protein-4
DAMP	Danger Associated Molecular Pattern
DC	Dendritic Cell
DFS	Disease Free Survival
DRR	Durable Response Rate
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay
ELISpot	Enzyme Linked Immunospot Assay
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GM-CSF	Granulocyte Macrophage- Colony Stimulating Factor
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HMGB1	High Mobility Group Box Protein-1
ICD	Immunogenic Cell Death
ICV	Infected Cell Vaccine

IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
Irr	Irradiated
MG1	Maraba MG1 Virus
MHCI/II	Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I/II
MLL	Mixed Lineage Leukemia
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection
NDV	New Castle Disease Virus
NK cell	Natural Killer Cell
NS	Not Significant
OS	Overall Survival
OV	Oncolytic Virus
PD-1	Programmed Cell Death Receptor-1
PD-L1	Programmed Cell Death Ligand-1
Ph	Philadelphia Chromosome
RANTES	Regulated upon Activation, Normal T Expressed, and Presumably Secreted
RBC	Red Blood Cell
SCT	Stem Cell Transplantation
SFC	Spot Frequency Count
TAA	Tumour Associated Antigen
TCR	T Cell Receptor
TIL	Tumour Infiltrating Lymphocyte
TKI	Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors
TLR-4	Toll Like Receptor-4
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
T-VEC	Talimogene laherparepvec
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VSV	Vesicular Stromatitis Virus

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Acute leukemia

#### 1.1.1 Classification

Each year roughly 2000 Canadians are diagnosed with Acute leukemia (AL), a haematological malignancy characterized by the accumulation of immature and abnormal blood cells in the bone marrow and peripheral blood. Common symptoms of leukemia include extreme fatigue, bleeding, anemia, and being prone to infectious diseases.<sup>1</sup> Patients are diagnosed with either Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) or Acute Myelocytic Leukemia (AML) depending on the cell type effected. T cells, B cells, and Natural Killer (NK) cells are the origin of ALL, the most common being mature B cells. Non-lymphoid cells such as Red Blood Cells (RBCs) and megakaryocytes are the main origins of AML.<sup>2</sup> AML and Chronic Lymphoblastic Leukemia (CLL) are the most common type of leukemias observed in adults, while ALL is the most common leukemia diagnosed in children.<sup>3</sup>

#### 1.1.2 Molecular basis of disease

The Philadelphia chromosome (Ph) is a common molecular marker of ALL. Ph is a translocation between chromosome 9 and 22 t(9;22) that is observed in 20-30% of adult ALL patients. Ph causes enhanced tyrosine kinase activity by downstream signalling pathways. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) have been incorporated into treatment methods for Ph+ ALL patients. Ph+ ALL patients have a worse prognosis than Ph- patients with a dismal long-term disease-free survival (DFS) rate of < 10%. <sup>1,4</sup>

30% of cancers diagnosed in children under the age of 15 are leukemia; the most common type of childhood cancer.<sup>5</sup> It has been reported that ionizing radiation is the main significant

environmental risk factor associated with childhood leukemia.<sup>6</sup> Genetic risk factors can include gene fusions in the mixed lineage leukemia (*MLL*) gene *in utero* as well as genetic polymorphisms that cause deficiencies in the ability to properly metabolize xenobiotic substances. For example, children with variants in cytochrome P4501A1 (CYP1A1) have worse leukemia prognosis than children who do not have these variants.<sup>7–9</sup> The overall five-year survival rate of both children and adolescents with leukemia is an astonishing 90.4%.<sup>10</sup> This impressive survival rate dampens when looking at adult populations with leukemia as increasing age at diagnosis is correlated with decreased survival. For example, the overall five-year survival rate of ALL patients age 40-64 is 30% and if the diagnosis occurs at 65 years of age or older it drops to 15%.<sup>3</sup>

#### 1.1.3 Prognosis and current standard of care

Standard treatment methods for leukemia are: chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and allogenic stem cell transplantations (SCT). Founded in the 1960s, the typical treatment for leukemia, follows regimen-specific chemotherapy combining the drugs cytarabine and anthracycline. The overall goal of chemotherapy is to restore normal hematopoiesis, kill cancer cells, and prevent resistant cancer cells from growing; leading to complete remission. However, minimal residual disease (MRD) is one possible outcome observed in leukemia patients after therapy. MRD, also referred to as "incomplete remission" is when a low level of leukemia is detected after therapy in patients. MRD is detected in the laboratory by flow cytometry and polymerase chain reactions (PCR) as these techniques are more precise than morphology analysis.<sup>11</sup> If MRD is present but not detected in patients this can lead to serious consequences as it is associated with a higher risk of relapse in patients.<sup>11</sup> Many patients will receive either consolidation chemotherapy or a SCT post-chemotherapy if MRD is detected or if relapse occurs.<sup>12</sup>

#### 1.2 The dilemma of AL

While these current treatment methods are effective at inducing complete remission 1 (CR1) in 80-90% of adult AL patients, disease will unfortunately recur in roughly 40% of adult patients.<sup>2</sup> Complete remission 2 (CR2) is very rare to obtain once a patient has relapsed.<sup>13</sup> For example, Gökbuget et al. observed that 100% of AL patients that received a non-SCT treatment for their cancer relapse died within 1 year of cancer recurrence.<sup>14</sup> Fielding et al. published that the overall five-year survival rate of a study done on 609 ALL patients after their first relapse is a dismal 7%.<sup>15</sup> Although, SCT seems to be the best treatment option for relapsed leukemia patients the clinical barriers include: elderly patients being unable to receive SCT because it is an invasive procedure and associated with complications. Difficulties in finding a human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched sibling or unrelated donor required for SCT is another limitation to the widespread adoption of this approach. Due to the high rate of AL relapse, it is a very difficult disease to cure with therapies such as chemotherapy and SCT. We are desperately in need of novel therapies and strategies for AL. Combining different types of cancer immunotherapies may be the answer to increase the therapeutic efficacy of AL.

#### **1.3 Cancer immunotherapy**

Cancer immunotherapy has demonstrated recent success in oncology research; activating the immune system of cancer patients to fight against their disease. There are many novel and promising cancer immunotherapies in the field of oncology. In 2013, *Science* even stated that cancer immunotherapies were the "Breakthrough of the Year."<sup>16</sup> Cancer immunotherapies can be distinguished based on their target/mechanism of action. In particular, immune checkpoint inhibitors, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells, whole tumour cell vaccines, oncolytic viruses (OVs), and infected cell vaccines are discussed below.

#### 1.3.1 Immune checkpoint inhibitors

Immune checkpoint receptors and ligands are essential for ensuring an appropriate immune response by balancing immune co-stimulatory and inhibitory signals. For example, immune checkpoint receptors/ligands protect against auto-immunity and prevent damage caused by excessive inflammation. However, immune checkpoint receptors can also be exploited by the tumour tissue to escape immune surveillance and allow tumour outgrowth.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, checkpoint inhibitors were developed to prevent immune interactions between checkpoint receptors on immune and/or cancer cells to overcome immunosuppression leading to enhancement of the anti-tumour immune response (Figure #1).<sup>18</sup> Common checkpoint inhibitors are cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 receptor (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death-1 receptor (PD-1) antibodies that target T cells and programmed cell death receptor ligand-1 (PD-L1) on tumour cells. For example, pre-clinical studies have demonstrated that in vivo CTLA-4 blockade resulted in tumour regression in murine models of colon, prostate and ovarian cancer.<sup>17,19</sup> Currently, three checkpoint inhibitors have received approval from the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for unresectable and metastatic melanoma: Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4), Pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1), and Nivolumab (anti-PD-1).<sup>18</sup> Overall, these inhibitors have shown success in the clinic as both Ipilimumab and Nivolumab have an overall survival advantage in melanoma patients compared to standard chemotherapy.<sup>20,21</sup> Xerri et al. has demonstrated that CTLA-4 is upregulated in T-cell lymphoma patients suggesting that anti-CTLA-4 therapy may be an effective treatment option for hematological malignancies.<sup>22</sup> Phase I and II clinical trials have been done using checkpoint inhibitors for hematological malignancies showing promising responses, but have yet to be tested on AL patients.<sup>17,23,24</sup> In 2015, Ansell et al. demonstrated an 87% response rate to Nivolumab in patients with relapsed classic Hodgkin's

lymphoma.<sup>25</sup> Overall, checkpoint inhibitors have become a standard part of solid tumour therapy suggesting they will soon get more involved with hematological malignancy treatment.



## Figure #1. The mechanism of immune checkpoint inhibitors for cancer treatment.

**A:** CTLA-4 out-competes CD28 binding for the receptor CD80 on antigen presenting cells (APCs) leading to APC inhibition. Ipilimumab inhibits the CTLA-4 receptor on T cells subsequently allowing CD28 to bind to CD80 allowing APC activation. **B:** PD-1 is a co-inhibitory receptor on T cells. Nivolumab and Permbrolizumab bind to PD-1 on T cells increasing T cell activation and cancer cell death. Figure adapted from reference #18.

#### 1.3.2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells

T cells cans be enabled to target specific cells and/or antigens by engineering a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) on their cell surface. CAR T cells are composed of an antigen binding domain that is specific for a tumour associated antigen (TAA) and an intracellular T cell activation domain. These domains make is possible for activated CAR T cells to directly target cancer cells and provide anti-tumour immunity. Many CAR T cells have been engineered against different TAAs such as: human epidermal growth factor-2 (HER2), mesothelin (MSLN) and CD19.26 However, the most promising clinical outcomes have been demonstrated in B cell leukemias using CAR T cells against CD19. <sup>27–29</sup> CD19 is a specific antigen on both healthy B cell lymphocytes and malignant B cells. The first phase I clinical trial for CD19 CAR T cells was targeting B cell ALL. This clinical trial achieved a complete remission (CR) rate of 88%.<sup>28</sup> Other clinical trials have also been performed for B cell ALL and impressive CR rates were demonstrated - 67% and 90%.<sup>27,29</sup> These CR rates are very encouraging; however, high relapse rates are still seen in patients receiving CD19 CAR T cell therapy. A common complication is the existence of a small CD19-negative B cell leukemia cell population that are not targeted during therapy.<sup>26</sup> Ruella et al. showed that approximately 30% of patients that relapsed from CD19 CAR T cell therapy was due to expansion of CD19-negative cancer cells.<sup>30</sup> Serious side effects have also been reported such as: cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and neural toxicities.<sup>26</sup> CRS is an immune mediated disorder that is caused by an excess of pro-inflammatory cytokines being secreted by activated T cells. Common cytokines released during CRS are IFN-gamma, TNF-alpha, IL-10, IL-6, and IL-2.<sup>31</sup> Several complications can occur due to the excess secretion of these cytokines. For example, the inflammatory response can cause endothelial cell damage which can lead to heart failure. Respiratory failure is other serious side effect. Unfortunately,

Morgan et al. and Turtle et al. have reported patients passing away from CRS in clinical trials for CD19 CAR T cells.<sup>32,33</sup> Research is being done on how to inhibit CRS is patients receiving CAR T cells. Aplenc et al. reported administering anti-cytokine therapy (anti-IL-6 antibody) to a patient that developed CRS post CD19 CAR T cell treatment. Anti-IL-6 therapy was effective at inhibiting CRS and this patient achieved CR.<sup>27</sup> CAR T cells are an up and coming cancer immunotherapy that have impressive potential, especially for blood cancers. There are many serious side effects of CAR T cell therapy that many researchers are learning how to manage for future patients.

#### 1.3.3 Whole tumour cell vaccines

Whole tumour cell vaccines are a therapeutic strategy for cancer that can induce a robust antitumor immune response. There are two main types of whole tumour cell vaccines: autologous and allogenic.<sup>34</sup> Autologous tumour cell vaccines are created when tumour cells from a cancer patient are isolated and manufactured *in vitro* into a tumour vaccine. The tumour cells are then administered back into the cancer patient and are known to produce strong and long-term antitumour immune responses. This strategy is unique as it creates a personalized approach to cancer treatment by using the patient's own cells as the vaccine.<sup>34</sup> Autologous tumour cell vaccines have an advantage as they induce a polyclonal anti-tumour immune attack. Since the whole heterologous tumour cell is the vaccine, multiple tumour associated antigens (TAA) are targeted. An issue with autologous cell vaccines is that this treatment can be restricted to tumour type and stage as an adequate amount of tumour cells need to collected from the patient.<sup>35</sup> Allogenic tumour cell vaccines are very similar to autologous vaccines but the tumour cells used as the vaccine are not from the patient.<sup>34</sup> The cells used in allogenic vaccines are derived from laboratory grown cancer cell lines; this means that they do not contain patient specific TAAs but there is an abundance of these cells.

There are different ways to manipulate tumour cells in vitro to engineer a potent cancer vaccine. For example, patient's tumour cells can be manipulated *in vitro* by irradiating the cancer cells and then immunizing the patient with irradiated cancer cells. Irradiated cancer cells present TAAs to antigen presenting cells (APCs) which should in turn stimulate tumour specific T cells creating a long-term anti-tumour immune response. Another strategy is to transfect patient's cancer cells with immune stimulatory cytokines - likely to cause an increase in APC activation and anti-tumour immunity.<sup>36</sup> For example, the tumour cell vaccine GVAX, has been genetically engineered to secrete granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF).<sup>37</sup> GM-CSF is a cytokine that attracts dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages to the vaccination site and is able to induce tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). DCs are able to play a critical role in T cell mediated anti-tumour immunity, making GM-CSF aid in the efficacy of the vaccine. GVAX has been reported to be used in both autologous and allogenic tumour cell vaccines.<sup>37</sup> GVAX has been shown to promote anti-tumour immunity in murine models of cancer by the mechanism of DC activation which in turn induced CD4 and CD8 T cell priming leading to anti-tumour immunity.<sup>38</sup> Most research on whole cell vaccines has been demonstrated in solid tumours, however, GVAX has been used in clinical trial for chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) patients. Smith et al. used an allogenic leukemia cell line (K562) that expressed GM-CSF as the vaccine. This study found that GVAX reduced tumour burden in CML patients that had residual disease while undergoing chemotherapy.<sup>39</sup>

10

Overall, whole cell vaccines are a promising avenue for cancer immunotherapy but many researchers are demonstrating that whole cell vaccines need to be combined with another immunotherapy to induce a robust and long-term anti-tumour immune response.

#### 1.3.4 Oncolytic viruses

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are a promising therapeutic strategy as they are able to target and kill cancer cells while leaving healthy cells unharmed (Figure #2). Cancer cells generally have mutations in their anti-viral interferon (IFN) signalling pathways. For example, these mutations make cancer cells able to inhibit apoptosis and enhance angiogenesis, therefore, making them resilient tumour cells.<sup>40</sup> OVs exploit the mutations that cancer cells have which leads to viral replication solely in tumour tissue.

OVs have been developed in the lab for about 20 years but just recently the first OV was approved by the FDA.<sup>41</sup> In 2015, talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) was approved for the treatment of melanoma. T-VEC is a herpes simplex virus type 1 that is able to replicate in cancer cells and produce GM-CSF to induce a robust anti-tumour immune response. In a phase III clinical trial, melanoma patients treated with T-VEC had a significantly better durable response rate (DRR) and longer overall survival (OS) compared to patients that only received GM-CSF.<sup>41</sup> T-VEC has been genetically engineered in the laboratory by the deletion of the genes *ICP34.5* and *ICP37*. These deletions are able to help attenuate its virulence and increase its tumour selective replication. Many OVs are genetically engineered by creating mutations in non-essential viral genes to make them more oncolytic and enhance their safety profile.

For example, MG1 is a genetically engineered Maraba virus from the rhadbovirus family. Wildtype (WT) Maraba virus is composed of a single stranded RNA genome and 5 proteins as such: 3'N-P-M-G-L-5'. MG1 has mutations in the matrix "M" (L123W) and glycoprotein "G" (Q242R) protein. Brun et al. demonstrated using viability assays and plaque assays that MG1 versus WT Maraba had enhanced ability to infect malignant cells and decreased ability to harm healthy cells. These results are due to both IFN-dependent and independent mechanisms.<sup>42</sup> Brun et al. also demonstrated that systemic delivery of MG1-GFP specifically replicated in CT26 colon cancer tumours using bioluminescent imaging. Durable survival and tumour regression was also observed in MG1 treated mice that had been previously injected with CT26. Whereas, 100% of untreated control mice died of tumour burden.<sup>42</sup> This data shows the promise of using OVs, specifically MG1, for cancer therapy.

OVs are known to work in 3 main ways to provide anti-tumour immunity. Firstly, OVs are able to infect and kill tumour vascular endothelial cells, leading to tumour cell exhaustion and death.<sup>43</sup> Arulanandam et al. has shown that vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signalling in tumor blood vessels inhibits the type 1 IFN pathway by enhancing the repressing transcription factors PRD1/BF1/Blimp1 therefore, sensitizing tumour vascularization to OV infection.<sup>44</sup> Also, the cytolytic ability of OVs can cause tumour cell lysis and viral spread. Due to this mechanism, the OV is able to migrate to other areas of the tumour microenvironment resulting in cancer cell death. Lastly, during cancer cell lysis tumour antigens are subsequently exposed and able to induce a robust anti-tumour immune response by uptake from APCs. This response has been regarded as one of the most important mechanisms as to how OVs provide systemic anti-tumour immunity because APCs are then able to become activated and stimulate the long-term adaptive immune response.<sup>40</sup>

#### 1.3.4.1 The role of antigen presenting cells (APCs) in mediating T cell activation

APC activation is necessary for stimulating T cell activation which mediates the long-term adaptive immune response. The three main APC populations are: B cells, macrophages, and DCs. However, literature has shown that DCs have a superior ability to process antigens and further cross present antigens to CD8 T cells.<sup>45</sup> Once APCs are activated by foreign antigens, they will present antigen fragments on the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) peptide. T cell receptors (TCR) on the surface of T cells will bind to the MHC peptide presenting the antigen. CD8 T cells bind to the MHCI peptide while CD4 T cells bind to the MHCII peptide on APCs. For activation to occur, T cells also need to bind to co-stimulatory molecules such as CD80/86 and CD40 on the surface of the APC.<sup>45</sup> Therefore, APCs play a critical role in the initial steps of the anti-tumour immune response.

OVs are known to activate APC populations after administration *in vivo*. Norbury et al. demonstrated that within 6 hours of vaccinia virus administration in mice, a robust APC activation phenotype was observed. Notably, DCs were the only activated APCs that were able to stimulate naïve CD8 T cells resulting in virus-specific T cells.<sup>46</sup> Zhang et al. reported MG1 infection of bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) induced a robust increase in CD80/CD86 activation markers on CD11c+ cells. Also, when DCs were ablated *in vivo* MG1 was not effective at inhibiting tumour metastases.<sup>47</sup> This demonstrates that importance of DC activation after OV infection to aid in anti-tumour immunity.



# Figure #2. Oncolytic Virotherapy.

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) directly target and kill cancer cells. OVs can infect both healthy and cancer cells. Healthy cells will activate anti-viral pathways when infected so that the virus is unable to replicate. Cancer cells do not have intact anti-viral pathways which leads to viral replication and cancer cell lysis.

#### 1.3.4.2 RANTES secretion and anti-tumour immunity

Immune-stimulatory cytokines can also be inserted into recombinant viral vectors to induce robust DC activation. RANTES (regulated upon activation, normally T expressed, and presumably secreted), also known as CCL-5, is a known pro-inflammatory chemokine that binds to CCR1, CCR3 and CCR5 receptors.<sup>48</sup> RANTES interaction with its receptors allows for DC maturation and, infiltration of CD4/CD8 T cells and NK to the tumour site.<sup>49</sup> The oncolytic adenovirus expressing RANTES (Ad-RANTES) has demonstrated successful pre-clinical cancer data. Lapteva et al. demonstrated that Ad-RANTES aided in the recruitment of DCs to the tumour site and subsequent DC activation compared to the adenovirus alone. Overall, intratumoural vaccination with Ad-RANTES significantly stimulated tumour regression in an EG.7 murine lymphoma model.<sup>50</sup> Lavergne et al. also showed that intra-tumoural injection of RANTES-encoding-DNA induced delayed tumour growth in mice with established lymphoma. Anti-tumour immunity was associated with an increase of tumour CD4/CD8 T cells, DCs, and NK infiltrating cells.<sup>51</sup> This data implies that RANTES secretion can be utilized to help provide anti-tumour immunity in cancer immunotherapy vaccination strategies, mainly by aiding in DC activation.

#### 1.3.5 Infected Cell Vaccines (ICVs)

Infected cell vaccines (ICVs) are a type of cancer immunotherapy combining OVs and whole tumour cell vaccines. In theory, ICVs are able to present a wide range of TAAs with the aid of a robust OV infection. The concept of the ICV was first introduced more than 50 years ago by researchers Murray and Cassel. This team used melanoma cells infected with the New Castle Disease Virus (NDV) to produce an ICV for the treatment of melanoma. Phase II clinical studies were done using NDV-ICV for metastatic melanoma and the 10-year DFS rate was 60% -

significantly better than surgery alone.<sup>52</sup> This study also reported that CD8 T cells played a critical role for the NDV-ICV to provide long-term therapeutic efficacy.<sup>52</sup>

Currently, ICVs are produced in the laboratory by infecting tumour cells with an OV followed by irradiation to inactivate the tumour cells. Lemay et al. has demonstrated that prophylactic immunization of irradiated-vesicular stromatitis virus (VSV) infected tumour cells (ICV) protect 30% of mice from colon cancer challenge. When the ICV was engineered to secrete GM-CSF (ICV-GM), the vaccine protected 95% of mice from tumour challenge. Interestingly, mice that received the ICV-GM compared to controls had a significant increase of activated DCs in their spleen within 24 hours post immunization as demonstrated by flow cytometry.<sup>53</sup> This shows the importance of the activating the innate immune response post immunization.

#### 1.3.5.1 The Role of the T Cell Mediated Anti-Tumour Immune Response

There are two main subtypes of T cells: CD4 and CD8. CD8 T cells are known as Cytotoxic T-Lymphocytes (CTLs) that are effector immune cells that target and kill cancer/infected cells. In comparison, CD4 T cells are known as helper cells that assist in immune cell activation and proliferation. For example, CD4 T cells are known to help activate cytotoxic CD8 T cells and aid in B cell maturation and antibody production.<sup>54</sup> In the presence of IL-2, van Den Broeke et al. demonstrated that CD4 T cells are required for NK cells to provide cytotoxic activity against tumour cells.<sup>55</sup> Contrary to the helper T cell role, literature has also demonstrated that there are CD4 T cells with direct cytotoxic function.<sup>56–60</sup> The main killing mechanisms used are similar to cytotoxic CD8 T cells; the production of IFN-gamma, perforin, and granzyme-B.<sup>56–58</sup>

Lemay et al. has demonstrated that mice immunized with ICV-GM compared to controls had an increase in CD3 T cells secreting IFN-gamma.<sup>53</sup> Alkayyal et al. has also demonstrated anti-

tumour immunity using an ICV platform, autologous tumour cells engineered to secrete IL-12 infected with MG1 virus (MG1-IL12-ICV). B16 melanoma cancer cells were used in this model. Mice immunized with MG1-IL12-ICV compared to mice that either received MG1-ICV or irradiated B16 cells had a significant survival advantage when challenged with B16 tumours. Alkayyal et al. demonstrated that CD3 and CD8 T cells were required for MG1-IL12-ICV to provide anti-tumour immunity as immunized mice depleted of these T cell subsets died of tumour burden.<sup>61</sup>

#### 1.4 Development of an ICV for AL

Our lab has developed of an ICV for AL by using autologous MG1 infected AL cells to create a personalized leukemia cell vaccine. By combining both the OV and whole tumour cell vaccine, the ICV treatment should induce a robust anti-tumour immune response in AL patients, ideally preventing relapse. The ICV is produced in the laboratory by infecting AL (L1210) cells with MG1 virus followed by irradiation. The ICV is the administered in the tail-vein of mice every 7 days for a total of 3 doses. To determine if the ICV provides anti-tumour immunity immunized mice are challenged with viable L1210 cells and survival is monitored (Figure #3). Conrad et al. has shown promising murine pre-clinical data demonstrating that administration of the ICV protects murine recipients from leukemia with over 95% of ICV immunized mice, a truly remarkable outcome (Figure #4). Notably, mice that are immunized with irradiated L1210 cells all succumb to leukemia challenge, demonstrating that MG1 virus is necessary for the anti-tumour immune response.<sup>62</sup> The development of an ICV for the clinic could be the future of effective therapy for AL patients.

Our lab has shown that the protective effects of the ICV in part depend upon T cell mediated immunity.<sup>62</sup> ICV immunized athymic (lacking T cells) mice were not protected against challenge with leukemia cells, and showed similar survival outcomes as unimmunized mice. Based on this data from our lab, the adaptive immune response is essential for the protective effects of the ICV, but it is unknown as to what T cell subsets are critical.

Conrad et al. as also demonstrated that mice first vaccinated with MG1 virus followed by ICV immunization showed an increase in survival to leukemia challenge compared to mice that only receive the ICV. Pre-treatment with MG1 induces anti-viral antibodies against MG1 in the serum of mice.<sup>62</sup> Somehow, these pre-existing anti-viral antibodies increase the efficacy of the ICV to leukemia challenge. It would be informative to understand the mechanism behind this phenomenon.

Overall, the development of the ICV for the clinic is a priority but more needs to be known about the mechanism(s) by which the ICV provides anti-tumour immunity.



L1210: Murine Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

# ICV Generation

# Figure #3. The infected leukemia cell vaccine (ICV) preparation, immunization, and L1210 challenge model.

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells (L1210) are infected with MG1 virus at an MOI 10 for 18 hours. Post infection the ICV is harvested and re-suspended in PBS followed by 30-gray  $\gamma$ -irradiation. DBA/2 mice then receive tail veil injections of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells of the ICV, once weekly for three weeks, followed one week later by  $1 \times 10^6$  viable L1210 cells.



# Figure #4. The infected cell vaccine provides protection against leukemia by generating anti-tumour immunity.

A: DBA/2 mice were administered the ICV, once weekly for three weeks, followed one week later by  $1 \times 10^6$  viable L1210 cells. 95% of immunized mice achieved long-term protection against L1210 cells compared to unimmunized mice. B: DBA/2 mice received the ICV 24 hours after administration of viable L1210 cells. In these figures the ICV is referred to as iLOV (immunotherapy by leukemia-oncotropic virus).<sup>62</sup>

# **2 HYPOTHESIS & OBJECTIVES**

## 2.1 Hypothesis

MG1 infection and irradiation activates antigen presenting cells, specifically dendritic cells, by the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, the presentation of TAAs, and the presentation of Pattern Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs) and Danger Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs). This will in turn stimulate tumour specific CD4 T cells to mediate the protective effects of the ICV.



2.1.1 The model

# 2.2 Objectives

The overall research objective of my thesis was to identify the mechanisms required to generate an anti-tumour immune response following vaccination with autologous leukemia cells infected with MG1 (ICV). My thesis was aimed to answer the two following questions:

- 1. What antigen presenting cell (APC) populations are activated post ICV immunization?
- 2. What T cell subsets are important in developing anti-tumour immunity during ICV immunization?

# **3 MATERIAL & METHODS**

#### **3.1 Reagents**

Rat anti-mouse *in vivo* antibodies CD4 (Clone GK1.5 – catalog #: BE0003-1) and CD8α (Clone 53-6.72 – catalog #:BE0004-1) were obtained from Bio X Cell. Flow cytometry antibodies: CD3 (Pe-Cy7), CD4 (PE), CD8 (FITC), CD19 (FITC), CD11c (BV421), F4/80 (BV711), CD40 (PE-CF594), CD80 (BV605), MHCII (PerCP-Cy5.5), and fixable viability stain (FVS510) were obtained from BD Biosciences. A complete list of the fluorescently labeled antibodies used can be found in Table 1. CD3 (catalog #: 19851), CD4(catalog #:19852) and CD8 (catalog #:19853) isolation kits were obtained from StemCell Technologies. Celltrace Violet was obtained from ThermoFisher Scientific and CFSE was obtained from Biolegend. VSVn peptide (Balb/c background) was a kind gift from the Diallo lab. Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and ionomycin were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich.

Species	Reactivity	Target	Fluorophore	Company	Cat #	
Rat	Mouse	CD3	Pe-Cy7	BD Biosciences	560591	
Rat	Mouse	CD4	PE	BD Biosciences	553730	
Rat	Mouse	CD8	FITC	BD Biosciences	553031	
Rat	Mouse	CD19	FITC	BD Biosciences	561740	
Rat	Mouse	F4/80	BV711	BD Biosciences	565612	
Rat	Mouse	CD40	PE-CF594	BD Biosciences	562847	
Rat	Mouse	MHCII	PerCP-Cy5.5	BD Biosciences	562363	
Hamster	Mouse	CD80	BV605	BD Biosciences	563052	

Tab	le 1.	An	tibo	odv	List
				•	

Armenian	Mouse	CD11c	BV421	BD Biosciences	565451
Hamster					

## 3.2 Cell lines

Murine B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell line (L1210) was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Cells were maintained in suspension culture in Dulbeccos's modified Eagle Medium (DMEM)-high glucose (HyClone), with 10% newborn calf serum:fetal calf serum (NCS:FBS) at a 3:1 ratio at 37°C/5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were split every 2 to 4 days to maintain a concentration between 5x10<sup>5</sup> to 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml. Vero cells (ATCC) were maintained in adherent cell culture conditions in DMEM and 10% NCS:FBS. Vero cells were used for virus propagation, viral titering, and neutralizing antibody assays.

## **3.3 Mice**

6-week-old female DBA/2 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories and housed in a contaminant level 2 (CL2) biosafety unit at the University of Ottawa accredited by the Canadian Counsel of Animal Care (CCAC). Institutional guidelines and review board for animal care, The Animal Care and Veterinary Service of the University of Ottawa, approved all animal studies.

#### 3.4 MG1 virus propagation and titering

The rhabdovirus,  $MG1^{42}$  was propagated in Vero cells by infecting cells at an MOI 0.01 for 72 hours. Supernatants were harvested post infection and spun down at 1500 x g for 10 minutes to remove the cell pellet. Cell debris was removed by passing the supernatant through a 0.22-micron filter and the virus was concentrated by centrifugation in the Avanti JXN high speed centrifuge (Beckman Coulter) at 14000 x g for 90 minutes at 4°C. The viral pellet was

resuspended in PBS, and stored at -80°C. MG1 virus was titered by plaque assay. Serial dilutions of virus were performed from  $-1x10^2$  to  $-1x10^{10}$  in serum free-DMEM. 800 µl of viral dilutions were plated onto confluent Vero cells and incubated for 1 hour. Viral overlay (50% 6% carboxymethyl cellulose, 40% 2X DMEM, 10% FBS) was added to each well post infection and let to incubate for 72 hours until plaques were formed. After incubation, wells were stained with Crystal Violet, let to dry, and then plaques were manually counted to obtain viral concentration. Calculation used to obtain viral titer was:

$$\frac{pfu}{ml} = \frac{(\# of \ viral \ plaques \ in \ well)}{(dilution \ of \ input \ virus)(volume \ of \ input \ virus)}$$

#### **3.5 Vaccine preparations**

The Infected Cell Vaccine (ICV) was prepared as follows: L1210 ( $1x10^{6}$  cell/ml) cells in a total volume of 20 ml 10% DMEM were infected with MG1 virus at MOI of 10 for 18-20 hours at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Following infection cells were counted and viability by trypan blue exclusion was determined using the Vi-Cell cell counter (Beckman Coulter). Cells were washed twice in PBS and resuspended at a concentration of  $1x10^{7}$  cells/ml in PBS and subsequently received 30-Gray  $\gamma$ -irradiation (HF-320, Pantak).

#### 3.6 Vaccine administration and leukemia challenge

100  $\mu$ l of the freshly prepared vaccine was administered intra-venously (i.v.) to DBA/2 mice once every 7 days for 3 weeks. Seven days following the last vaccination, mice were challenged i.v. with 1x10<sup>6</sup> L1210 cells. For L1210 challenge, cells were pelleted by centrifugation and washed once in PBS. Cells were counted on the Vi-cell and resuspended at 1x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml in PBS. Mice were end pointed upon development of signs of leukemia such as: lethargy and respiratory distress, hind limb paralysis, and anal masses.

#### 3.7 In vivo T cell depletion

DBA/2 mice were administered 100 µg of CD4, CD8, or both CD4/CD8 depleting antibodies (BioXCell) intra-peritoneally (i.p.) on days 0 and 1 (2 days prior to and 1 day prior to vaccination). Mice were then vaccinated with the ICV once a week for 3 weeks and then challenged one week later with L1210 cells to monitor survival. The respective depleting antibodies were given every 3-4 days (100 µg) to maintain depletion of the T cell populations. Antibody injections were stopped the day prior to L1210 challenge. For the neutralizing antibody assay, mice were not challenged with L1210 cells. Blood was collected from mice throughout antibody injections to confirm T cell depletion by flow cytometry.

#### 3.8 Adoptive T cell transfer

6-week-old DBA/2 mice were either unimmunized (naïve donors) or ICV immunized once a week for 3 weeks (ICV immunized donors). One week post the last immunization, spleens were collected from all donors in sterile conditions. Naïve spleens were pooled together while immunized spleens were pooled together. Two donor mice were needed for every recipient to obtain enough cells. CD3 T cells were isolated from spleens using a negative T cell isolation kit (Stemcell Technologies). Pre-and post isolated cells were set aside to assess CD3 T cell purity by flow cytometry. 1.5x10<sup>7</sup> CD3 T cells were injected into the tail vein of naïve DBA/2 recipient mice. Eight days post adoptive transfer recipient mice were challenged with 1x10<sup>6</sup> L1210 cells and survival was monitored.
#### **3.9 RANTES ELISA**

L1210 cells were plated at a density of  $3.75 \times 10^5$  cells/plate in 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks in a total volume of 7.5 ml media. 18-24 hours after plating, cells were infected with MG1 virus at a MOI of 10 for 18 hours or cells received 30-gray irradiation. MG1-ICV cells were infected and then irradiated. Post infection/irradiation cells were centrifuged at 1500 x rpm for 5 minutes and supernatants were harvested and stored at -80°C. RANTES ELISA kit (Abcam – Catalog #:ab100739 ) was performed to assess RANTES secretion. Assay was performed as instructed by the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 100  $\mu$ l of a 1:1 dilution of the supernatant: media was plated into each well and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours. After incubation, biotinylated RANTES detection antibody was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 45 minutes. Lastly, TMB One-Step development solution was added to each well for 30 minutes followed by stop solution.

#### **3.10 Flow cytometry**

Cells were collected from the spleen, blood, or lymph nodes at appropriate time points and red blood cells were lysed using ammonium-chloride-potassium buffer. Cells were washed with PBS and counted on the Vi-cell or hemocytometer. 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/well were plated in a V-bottom 96-well plate (Corning). Cells were spun down at 500 x g for 5 minutes and subsequently stained with FVS510 viability dye (BD Biosciences) for 30 minutes at 4°C. Viability dye was neutralized with Flow Buffer (0.5% Bovine Serum Albumin in PBS) and cells were centrifuged. Anti-mouse CD16/32 (BD Biosciences) was added to all wells for 5 minutes at 4°C to block Fc receptors. Cells were then stained with appropriate antibodies such as: anti-mouse CD40, CD80, MHCII,

CD11c, CD19, F4/80, CD3, CD4, CD8, IgG (BD Biosciences) for 25-30 minutes at 4°C. Cells were then washed with PBS and fixed using 1% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) and later read on the BD Celesta or BD Fortessa at the University of Ottawa. Data was analyzed using FlowJo Software. Representative gating strategies are shown in (Figure #6A and Appendix Figure #22) but include: gating out cell debris and then gating on single viable cells. Fluorescence Minus One (FMOs) samples were used determine the appropriate gates for all fluorophores. To assess T cell depletion, cells were gated on CD3+ T cells and then CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets were analyzed. (CD19-,CD11c+) cells are referred to as DCs and (CD11c-, CD19+) cells are referred to as B cells.

#### **3.11** Neutralizing antibody assay

6-week old DBA/2 mice were depleted of either CD4, CD8 or both CD4/CD8 T cells while receiving ICV immunization once of week for 3 weeks (previously described in methods). Control cohorts were both unimmunized mice or ICV immunized. One week post the last immunization blood was collected from the saphenous vein of mice. Serum was isolated from the blood by centrifugation at 2000 x g for 10 minutes and heat-inactivated for 30 minutes at 56°C to degrade complement. Serial dilutions of serum were made in serum-free DMEM and then incubated with MG1-GFP virus for 45 minutes at 37°C 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in a 96-well plate. The viral serum mixture was then plated onto confluent Vero cells for 72 hours at 37°C 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in a 96well plate. Samples were performed in technical triplicate. 24 hours post infection, GFP expression was assessed on the EVOS cell imaging microscope (ThermoFisher). 72 hours post infection, cells were fixed with a 3:1 ratio of methanol acetate for at least 15 minutes and then rinsed extensively with tap water. Cells were stained with Coomassie Blue for 20-30 minutes and then let to dry. After wells had dried, 1% Sodium Lauryl Sulfate (SLS) was added to wells overnight. In a deep well dish, 1:8 dilution of cells post-SLS and tap water was made and the absorbance was read at 570 nm on the Multiskan (ThermoFisher Scientific).

#### 3.12 In vivo killing assay

This assay was performed essentially as described previously <sup>63</sup>. Briefly, L1210 cells and/or donor splenocytes were labelled with fluorescent dyes such as: Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester (CFSE) and/or Celltrace Violet (CTV). CFSE low cells was stained with 0.1 µM of dye and CFSE high cells at 10  $\mu$ M. In other experiments, cells were stained with 5  $\mu$ M CFSE and 5 µM of CTV. Cells were washed in PBS and stained with the individual dyes at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^7$  cells/ml in pre-warmed PBS for 15 minutes or 20 minutes for CFSE or CTV respectively at 37°C/5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After labelling, cells were spun down at 300 x g for 10 minutes and supernatant was discarded. Cell pellets were resuspended in 10% RPMI to neutralize the dyes. Cell staining was confirmed by flow cytometry. In certain experiments, CFSE stained cells and CTV stained cells were mixed together at a 1:1 ratio. Subsequently,  $4x10^7$  cells total was injected into naïve or ICV immunized recipient mice and cells were collected 18 hours later. For experiments involving tail vein injections, splenocytes were collected whereas a peritoneal wash was performed from mice that received i.p. injections. Collected cells were counted and flow cytometry was done to assess the ratio of donor splenocytes to L1210 cells. In vivo killing was determined using the formula:

% specific lysis = 
$$1 - \frac{(\% CTV ICV)/(\% CFSE ICV)}{(\% CTV naive)/(\% CFSE naive)} \times 100$$

## 3.13 IFN-Gamma ELISpot

Mice were either unimmunized, immunized with  $1 \times 10^6$  irradiated L1210 cells or the ICV once a week for 3 weeks. Spleens were harvested 45 days after immunization and pooled together

according to their appropriate experimental groups. CD3, CD4 or CD8 T cells were isolated from splenocytes using negative isolation kits (StemCell Technologies). A fraction of the input and isolated populations was put aside to assess T cell purity by flow cytometry. Effector T cells were prepared at a 4:1 ratio of  $4x10^6$  T cells/ml to  $1x10^6$  naïve donor splenocytes/ml in serum-free RPMI. Re-stimulants consisted of: serum-free RPMI, 1 µg of VSVn peptide, and 1% PFA fixed L1210 cells, and PMA/Ionomycin. All re-stimulants were prepared in serum-free RPMI and L1210 cell re-stimulation was prepared at  $1x10^6$  cells/ml.

Serum-Free RPMI was added to murine IFN-gamma ELISpot (MabTech – cat #:3321-2A) wells for 30 minutes at RT (room temperature), as instructed in manufacturer's protocol. Media was removed for wells and 100  $\mu$ l of each re-stimulant was added to the wells. 100  $\mu$ l of the 4:1 mixture of effector cells:naïve donor splenocytes was added to each well after the re-stimulants. Overall, each well contained 5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/well and 1x10<sup>5</sup> re-stimulant cells/well (5:1 ratio). The Elispot was incubated for 18 hours at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in light sensitive conditions.

Spots on the IFN-gamma ELISpot plate were developed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the plates were emptied and washed with PBS. IFN-gamma secreted by effector cells was captured by addition of a biotinylated anti-mouse IFN-gamma antibody to wells for 45 minutes. Streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (ALP) was added to each well followed by the addition of a detection solution that precipitated when reacted with ALP. When spots started to emerge, the plates were rinsed in tap water and let to dry. The number of IFN-gamma secreting cells/well was quantified by an Immunospot© ELISpot plate reader at Cellular Technology Ltd (Ohio, USA). Graphs are represented as spot frequency counts (SFC)/ # of effectors cells added to each well.

33

# 3.14 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were calculated using GraphPad Prism software. Statistical tests used were Mantel-cox and a two-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post-test. Mean and standard error of the mean (SEM) are shown. P values are represented as ns (not significant), \* < 0.05, \*\* < 0.01, \*\*\* < 0.001, and \*\*\*\* < 0.0001.

## **4 RESULTS**

**4.1 What antigen presenting cell populations (APCs) are activated post ICV immunization?** An effective anti-tumour T cell mediated immune response requires APCs to first uptake, process and present tumour antigen on MHCII to naïve T cells while engaging CD28 through expression of a co-stimulatory molecules such as CD80 and CD40. The surface expression of MHCII, CD80, and CD40 have been used extensively to assess the level of APC activation by flow cytometry. We first sought to determine if (1) specific APC subsets were activated post immunization and (2) if the irradiated L1210 ICV immunization mice differentially activated APCs.

## 4.1.1 Flow cytometry for antigen presenting cell (APC) populations

We sought to determine if APCs were being activated post immunization by flow cytometry. Naïve mice were either unimmunized or received one dose of irradiated L1210 or ICV i.v.. Spleen, cardiac blood, and pooled lymph nodes were collected 4, 24 and 72 hours post immunization and stained for APC markers including: CD11c (dendritic cells) CD19 (B cells) and F4/80 (macrophage) and activation markers such as: CD40, MHCII, and CD80. An outline of the experimental timeline is shown in Figure #5 and a representative gating strategy in Figure #6A.

## 4.1.1.1 Dendritic cell activation

Briefly, DCs were identified as single, viable, CD19-, CD11c+ lymphocytes. Although a number of analyses were performed I focused on the relative impact of the vaccination strategies on the MHCII+/CD40+ double positive population as the simultaneous upregulation of these two markers would allow both antigen presentation and co-stimulation of T cells. Our results demonstrate that although the percentage of MHCII positive DCs present in the spleen did not increase there was a temporal increase in the percentage of the MHCII+ cells with increased CD40 expression with ICV immunization but not irradiated cells alone. The representative flow cytometry plots and the quantitative results for n=5 are shown in Figure #6B and 6C. Although the percentage of the MHCII cells did not differ significantly between the groups there was a detectable increase in the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI), suggesting that the per cell expression of MHCII was increased following vaccination with the ICV (Figure #6D). A detectable increase in the MFI of CD40 was also noticed following vaccination with the ICV (Figure #6E). Notably, both the increase in the percentage of the MHCII+/CD40+ population as well as the MHCII and CD40 MFI returned to baseline levels by 72 hours. No changes were observed in CD80 expression levels and frequency despite reliable detection (data not shown). Taken together, this data demonstrates that the ICV induces DC activation post immunization and this could potentially be aiding in the anti-tumour immune response.



# Figure #5. Experimental timeline and procedure for APC activation.

A: Mice were either unimmunized, immunized with the ICV or irradiated L1210 cells. Spleens, cardiac blood, and pooled lymph nodes were collected 4, 24 and 72 hours post injections. Red blood cells were lysed with ACK buffer, washed with PBS, followed by viability staining and then stained with CD40, CD80, MHCII, CD19, CD11c, and F4/80 antibodies for 30 minutes at 4°C and analyzed by flow cytometry.







\*\*\*

С

## Figure #6. ICV immunization increases MHCII+/CD40+ population on DCs in the spleen.

A: Example of the gating strategy used to assess DC population. Cells are gated on lymphocytes, single cells, viable cells, CD19-, CD11c+ and then the MHCII+/CD40+ population was analyzed. B: Representative flow cytometry plots of the MHCII+/CD40+ population from splenocytes. Unimmunized plot is shown as a control and demonstrates the axes. Plots show irradiated L1210 and ICV immunized spleen samples at 4, 24 and 72 hours post immunization. C: Quantitative representation of flow cytometry plots showing the % of MHCII+/CD40+ splenocytes. D: Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of MHCII from MHCII+ cells. E: MFI of CD40 from CD40+ cells. (N=5 for each group). Statistical analysis determined by a two-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post test done on GraphPad Prism.

#### 4.1.1.2 B cell activation

CD19+ cells (B cells) were also analyzed to determine if they had a role in acting as APCs post ICV immunization. B cells (CD11c-/CD19+) were analyzed by the same methods as DCs, (Appendix – Figure #22). Unlike DCs, there were no significant differences in the MHCII+/CD40+ population at 24 hours (Figure #7A). However, 72 hours post vaccination with either irradiated L1210s or the ICV resulted in a significant increase in the percentage of the MHCII+/CD40+ cells. The MFI of MHCII stays quite consistent throughout the time course, but significant changes are seen in level of expression of CD40 (Figure #7B and C).

The lymph nodes of all mice were also collected to examine the activation of the APC populations. The lymph nodes are a secondary lymphoid organ, like the spleen, where activated APCs migrate to interact with T cells. The cervical, mesenteric, and inguinal lymph nodes were collected and pooled together. Surprisingly, we did not see any changes in the lymph nodes of mice post ICV immunization compared to the control (data not shown). This could be due to pooling the lymph nodes. Blood was collected from mice post ICV immunization and no significant changes in activation marker were seen. Overall, this suggests that the spleen may be the main secondary lymphoid organ aiding in the activation of the anti-tumour T cell response in our ICV model.

To summarize, we have determined that DCs are activated post ICV immunization. DCs in the spleen, increase the level of expression of MHCII/CD40 and frequency within 24 hours post ICV immunization. Also, this activation is a trait of the ICV and is not seen is mice that received irradiated L1210 cells.











Immunization Groups

# Figure #7. The changes of B cell activation markers post vaccination.

Cells are gated on lymphocytes, single cells, viable cells, CD11c- and CD19+ cells. Analysis was done on the double positive MHCII+/CD40+ subset. A: The % of MHCII+/CD40+ cells within the spleen. B: The MFI of MHCII on MHCII+ cells in the spleen. C: The MFI of CD40 on CD40+ cells in the spleen.

## 4.2 Does MG1 infection and irradiation increase RANTES secretion?

RANTES is a chemokine involved in aiding in DC activation.<sup>50,51</sup> We wanted to determine if one of the mechanisms of activating DCs post ICV immunization could be through RANTES chemokine secretion. L1210 cells were either irradiated, infected with MG1, or MG1 infected and irradiated (MG1-ICV). Samples were compared to control L1210 cells. Supernatants were collected and RANTES secretion was determined. Our results show that the *in vitro* MG1 infection and irradiation (MG1-ICV) does significantly increase L1210 cell RANTES secretion could possibly be aiding in the activation of DCs post ICV immunization, but more research will still need to be done to determine this link.



## Figure #8. RANTES secretion is induced by MG1 infection and irradiation.

L1210 cells were plated at a density of  $3.75 \times 10^5$  cells/plate in a total volume of 7.5 ml. L1210 cells were either irradiated (30-gray), infected with MG1 virus at an MOI of 10 for 18 hours, or MG1 infected and irradiated (MG1-ICV). Zero hours post irradiation and/or infection, cells were centrifuged and supernatants were collected. 100 µl of the supernatants were analyzed for RANTES secretion using a RANTES ELISA. N=3 for all groups. Statistical analysis determined by a two-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post test on GraphPad Prism. ELISA performed by summer student, Leah Monette.

# **4.3** What T cell subsets are important in developing anti-tumour immunity during ICV immunization?

Previous work in our laboratory by Conrad et al. has demonstrated that T cells are required for an effective anti-tumour immune response against leukemia cells following vaccination with the ICV. In particular, athymic mice immunized with the ICV were not protected from leukemia challenge.<sup>62</sup> However, these studies did not reveal which T cell subsets are critical for generating anti-tumour immunity during the vaccination period. We have determined that CD4 T cells are essential for the protective anti-tumour effects of the ICV. We have also demonstrated that CD4 T cells are required for the anti-viral immune response against MG1 which could be related to the anti-tumour immune response. Notably, CD4 T cells also produce IFN-gamma in response to L1210 re-stimulation demonstrating that these cells could be providing a direct or indirect anti-tumour immune response to L1210 cell re-stimulation, demonstrating that CTLs provide a very significant leukemia precific anti-tumour immune response.

## 4.3.1 In vivo T cell depletion

Individual T cell subsets were depleted to determine whether CD4 or CD8 T cells are required for developing an anti-tumour immune response following ICV immunization. Naïve mice depleted of either CD4, CD8, or both CD4/CD8 were either unimmunized of administered the ICV as shown in Figure #9. Prior to performing this assay, I optimized the concentration of the CD4 and CD8 antibodies by administering the appropriate antibody on day 0 and 1 and collecting the spleen and/or blood 24 hours and 4 days post injections. Assessment of the T cell population by flow cytometry revealed that either antibody delivered i.p. was sufficient to deplete respective T cell populations at concentrations as low as 100 µg (Appendix – Figure #23) and was used for further experiments. This dosing strategy was sufficient to maintain depletion of T cell populations throughout the vaccination and at the time of challenge (Figure #10 and #11) Notably, it was also found that depleted T cell populations reconstitute within 21 days post L1210 challenge (Appendix -Figure #24).

In agreement with our previous findings<sup>62</sup>, I have found that depletion of both CD4 and CD8 T cells results in 100% of mice succumbing to leukemia challenge within 28 days – confirming that the ICV requires T cells to effectively provide anti-tumour immunity (Figure #12). However, while CD4 T cell depletion resulted in 75% of ICV immunized succumbing to leukemia challenge with a median survival of 73.5 days post challenge – only 26.7% of ICV immunized mice in the CD8 T cell depleted group succumb to leukemia challenge (Figure #12). This data demonstrates the importance both CD4 and CD8 T cells during ICV immunization and that CD4 T cells are playing an essential anti-leukemic role.



# Figure #9. Experimental timeline for *In Vivo* T cell depletion.

6-week-old DBA/2 mice were injected with PBS, CD4, CD8 or both antibodies (100  $\mu$ g) on days 0 and 1, followed by administration of the ICV on day 2, 9 and 16, and L1210 challenge on day 23. Antibody injections were administered every 3-4 days until the day of L1210 challenge (day 23) to sustain depletion. Survival was monitored post L1210 challenge.



CD3+/CD4+

# Figure #10. Confirmation of T Cell Depletion.

6-week-old DBA/2 mice were injected with PBS, and/or both 100  $\mu$ g CD4 or 100  $\mu$ g CD8 antibody on days 0, 1 and 4. Peripheral blood from the saphenous vein was collected on day 8 to confirm T cell depletion 4 days post antibody injection. Blood was stained with CD3, CD4, and CD8 antibodies to perform flow cytometry.





# Figure #11. T cell depletion is maintained at the day of L1210 challenge.

DBA/2 mice were administered intra-peritoneally either PBS,  $100 \ \mu g \ CD4$  or  $100 \ \mu g \ CD8$ antibody on day 0 and day 1. The antibody was administered every 3-4 days until L1210 challenge. The ICV was tail vein injected on days 2, 9, and 16. Blood was collected from the saphenous vein of mice on the day of the L1210 challenge, stained with CD3, CD4, and CD8 antibody and analyzed by flow cytometry.



## Figure #12. T cells are required for the protective effects of the ICV.

6-week old DBA/2 mice were either administered PBS, anti-CD4, anti-CD8 antibodies or both on days 0 and 1, followed by administration of the ICV on day 2, 9 and 16, and L1210 challenge on day 23. Antibody injections were administered every 3-4 days until the day of L1210. Survival was monitored. Statistical significance was calculated by the Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) Test on GraphPad Prism.

#### 4.3.2 Adoptive T cell transfer

To further validate the findings of the in vivo T cell depletion I attempted to adoptively transfer CD3 T cells from vaccinated animals to naïve mice as outline in Figure #13A. Postimmunization the spleens of mice that received the indicated vaccinations were collected and CD3 T cells were isolated using a negative selection kit. CD3 T cell purity was assessed by flow cytometry of pre- and post-isolated samples. CD3 T cell purity of >90% was achieved (Figure #13B). CD3 T cells from unimmunized or ICV immunized mice were injected i.v. into wild-type DBA/2 recipient mice. 8 days following the adoptive transfer recipient mice were challenged with L1210 cells and survival was monitored. Surprisingly, adoptive transfer of ICV primed CD3 T cells did not provide long term, durable protection and 100% of recipients succumbed to leukemia challenge (Figure #13C). Although this experiment could be interpreted as an inability of the ICV primed CD3 T cells to provide protection against leukemia challenge it was unclear from this experiment whether the transferred T cells were present in sufficient numbers or able to expand following challenge. This assay should be optimized in the future to ensure that these parameters can be monitored to see if we can demonstrate the protective effects of CD3 T cells in this model. Further potential areas of optimization will be mentioned in the discussion.







# Figure #13. Adoptive transfer of ICV-Primed CD3 T cells does not protect mice from leukemia.

A: Donor mice were either unimmunized or ICV immunized once a week for three weeks. 7 days post immunization donor spleens were collected and CD3 T cells were isolated using a negative selection kit.  $1.5 \times 10^7$  T cells/ mouse were injected into the tail vein of wild-type recipient mice. 8 days post adoptive T cell transfer all mice were challenged with  $1 \times 10^6$  L1210 cells. **B:** Isolated T cells were stained with a CD3 antibody and flow cytometry was performed. CD3 T cell isolation was > 90% pure. **C:** Survival curve of adoptive transfer of non-primed or ICV-primed T cells results in recipient mice succumbing to L1210 challenge. N= 5 mice/per group.

#### 4.3.4 In vivo killing assay

Provided the direct tumour cytolytic effect of T cells we next sought to determine whether the anti-tumour immunity provided by the ICV was associated with increased T cell mediated killing. A number of different approaches with relative strengths and weaknesses have been developed for measuring T cell mediated killing including an in vivo approach that utilizes target and non-specific cell populations differentially labelled with fluorescent dyes.<sup>63,64</sup> However, this approach has generally been performed with the knowledge of a tumour specific antigen that is pulsed onto syngeneic splenocytes prior to injection. Flow cytometry of harvested splenocytes at a later time point can be performed to assess if the tumour specific peptide-pulsed cells have been preferentially targeted in vivo. However, no such antigen is currently known for the L1210 model, so I attempted to use labelled L1210 cells and whole splenocytes. In this experiment, control whole splenocytes were labelled with a low concentration of CFSE and L1210 cells were labelled with a high concentration of CFSE. Experimental timeline is shown in Figure #14A. Cell labelling was optimized to shown that L1210 cells could be effectively labelled with CFSE at a high (10 µm) and low dose (1 µm) and clearly visualized (Figure #14B). However, 18 hours following injections of 9x10<sup>6</sup> labelled cells mixed together at a 1:1 ratio and administered into the tail-vein of unimmunized or ICV immunized mice a very few CFSE positive cells could be observed and only those with a high concentration of dye could be visualized (Figure #14C). I could no longer distinguish the difference between the CFSE low and high populations. This could have been due to the number of labelled cells that we injected, the proliferation of the CFSE high cells, or time point of spleen collection.

Α



В





CFSE

## Figure #14. Low and high concentrations of CFSE is insufficient at demonstrating antitumour immunity.

A: DBA/2 mice were either unimmunized (PBS) or vaccinated with the ICV. On day 21, mice received a 1:1 mix of CFSE low donor splenocytes: CFSE high L1210 intra-venously.  $9x10^6$  cells total was injected. 18 hours post injections, spleens were harvested, and flow cytometry was performed to assess CFSE labelled populations. **B:** L1210 were labelled with CFSE low (1 µm) or CFSE high (10 µm) fluorescent dye. Samples of both unmixed and equally mixed cells are represented. **C:** Flow cytometry plots of splenocytes collected from unimmunized and ICV immunized mice after being injected with 1:1 mix of CFSE low control cells:CFSE high L1210 cells. (n=1).

After determining that we could not see anti-tumour immunity using the CFSE low:CFSE high labelled cells for the *in vivo* killing assay we decided to try a different approach. Since we were unable to detect the CFSE low from the CFSE high population it could be due to the CFSE high population proliferating and incorporating in with the CFSE low population. To address these issues, I next attempted to label the L1210 and splenocyte populations with two different fluorescent dyes, Celltrace violet (CTV) and CFSE respectively. In addition, I injected more cells compared to the previous experiment to determine if the cell number was the issue as outlined in Figure #15A. Prior to injections, it was first determined that 5  $\mu$ M of CTV was sufficient to label L1210 cells. Successful in vitro labelling of the 1:1 mixture of CTV labelled L1210 cells and CFSE labelled splenocytes was achieved (Figure #15B). Labelled cells were injected into an unimmunized mouse as previously done and the spleen from the recipient mouse was collected after 18 hours for flow cytometry (Figure #15C). The data was encouraging and demonstrated that there was successful detection of both the control splenocytes and L1210 cells from the recipient spleen. However, the ratio of the injected cells was 2.46:1 not 1:1. This discrepancy could arise from either innate killing of the L1210 cells or differential cell homing. Due to the hypothesis that the L1210 cells could be migrating to other organs, blood, bone marrow, lungs, liver and brain of a recipient mouse were all collected. Flow cytometry was performed on all organs and the labelled L1210 cells were not detected in any of these sites (Appendix – Figure #25). Overall, based on this preliminary experiment we thought it would be feasible to assess if ICV immunized mice could reject the L1210 cells more effectively compared to unimmunized mice. A cohort of naïve and ICV immunized recipients were injected with a 1:1 mixture of labelled cells and representative flow cytometry plots are shown in Figure #15D. Unexpectedly, only 1 out of 4 unimmunized replicates had visual L1210 cell labelling in the spleen while all
replicates showed the control splenocyte population with no-labelled L1210 cells present in ICV immunized mice despite the presence of a control splenocyte population. Together these findings suggest that L1210 cells are homing to a different organ that was not directly assessed in our preliminary experiments or that there is a strong innate response.





## **Unimmunized Recipients**



CFSE





CFSE

### Figure #15. Inconsistent results are obtained using the *in vivo* killing assay to detect antitumour immunity.

A: Donor splenocytes were labelled with 5  $\mu$ m of CFSE and L1210 with CTV. 2x10<sup>7</sup> cells/cell type were injected into the tail vein of either unimmunized of ICV immunized mice. 18 hours post injections, spleens were harvested and flow cytometry was performed. **B**: Flow cytometry plot of the mixture of L1210 cells and splenocytes labelled with respective dyes prior to injections. **C**: Unimmunized recipient spleen was harvested 18 hours post injection and flow cytometry was performed to assess the labelled cell types. **D**: Unimmunized and ICV immunized spleens were harvested post injections and flow plots are shown. (N=4 for each group). Each number represents a different replicate.

Lastly, we sought to investigate whether directly injecting cells into the peritoneal cavity could be used for the *in vivo* killing assay. A 1:1 ratio of labelled splenocytes and L1210 was injected intra-peritoneally and 18 hours post injections a peritoneal wash was performed on recipient mice (Figure #16). Cells collected from the peritoneal wash were gated on lymphocytes, single cells, and then unstained cells were excluded from the analysis. Although both L1210 cells and control splenocytes were observed in the peritoneal wash of mice and it was determined that there was 27.8% specific lysis of L1210 cells in the ICV immunized compared to the control. The ratio of the splenocytes to the L1210 cells was compromised in the unimmunized animal, suggesting that the specific lysis calculation may be skewed. Unfortunately, the splenocytes may not have been staying within the peritoneal cavity and that could be why we saw a low percentage of them compared to the L1210 cells after the peritoneal wash.

Although these optimization steps demonstrate a possibly utility of this approach I sought to move onto a well documented and reliable method, the IFN-gamma ELISpot assay, for detecting anti-tumour immunity that could be transferable to a clinical setting.



# Figure #16. Peritoneal wash used for *in vivo* killing assay results in a skewed ratio of L1210 cells to control splenocytes.

Donor splenocytes were labelled with 5  $\mu$ m of CFSE and L1210 with CTV. 2x10<sup>7</sup> cells/cell type were injected intra-peritoneally of either an unimmunized of ICV immunized mouse (n=1). 18 hours post injections, a peritoneal wash was performed and flow cytometry was done to assess L1210 cell killing. Cells were gated on lymphocytes, singlets, exclusion of unstained cells, and then stained cell populations were analyzed.

#### 4.3.5 IFN-gamma ELISpot

An ELISpot is sensitive assay for detecting the number of tumour specific immune cells as determined by quantifying cytokine secreting cells in either a mixed of purified population presented with target cells or antigens. To further characterize the immune response of the T cell subsets in ICV immunized mice an IFN-gamma ELISpot was performed. The IFN-gamma ELISpot would also be able to quantify the # of CD4 and CD8 T cells from ICV immunized mice that have an L1210 -specific anti-tumour immune response. Firstly, a preliminary ELISpot was done to ensure adequate sensitivity and technical replication. CD3 T cells were isolated from unimmunized and ICV immunized mice (>87% purity as shown in Appendix – Figure #26). Effector T cells were mixed at a 4:1 ratio with whole splenocytes and plated into wells. Effector cells were re-stimulated with either media, L1210 cells and either, anti-CD28 magnetic beads or and PMA/Ionomycin as a positive control. The plate was then incubated for 18 hours and spot frequency counts (SFC) were quantified. Notably, CD3 T cells from unimmunized mice produced IFN-gamma in response to anti-CD28 and PMA/Ionomycin as expected. However, PMA/Ionomycin produced spots that were easier to read and the wells looked less hazy and was selected as a positive control for the future assays (Figure #17A). Quantification of the SFCs also revealed that CD3 T cells from ICV immunized mice produced more IFN-gamma in response to L1210 cells than unimmunized mice suggesting that this approach could be used to effectively measure tumour specific T cell responses (Figure #17B).







# Figure #17. Preliminary ELISpot determines that PMA/Ionomycin is an effective positive control.

Mice were either unimmunized or administered the ICV. Two months post immunization spleens were collected from mice. CD3 T cells were negatively isolated from spleens. T cells were mixed with naïve splenocytes at a 4:1 ratio. The effector cells were then co-cultured with restimulants at a 5:1 ratio (media, 1% PFA fixed L1210 cells, anti-CD28 magnetic beads, PMA/Ionomycin) for 18 hours. A: ELISpot plate visually demonstrating the spot frequency counts (SFC)/well. B: SFC/well quantified. Samples were all performed in technical duplicate. N=1 mouse/immunization group. Mean is shown and error bars represent the standard deviation of the technical duplicates.

Next, having optimized this approach a complete experiment was performed to compare IFNgamma secretion in CD3, CD4, CD8 T cells from unimmunized, irradiated L1210 immunized, and ICV immunized mice. CD3, CD4 and CD8 T cells were isolated from pooled splenocytes of the respective groups using a negative selection kit. Purity of samples post-isolation is shown by flow cytometry (Appendix – Figure #27) and was >90% for every sample. T cells were mixed at a 4:1 ratio with whole splenocytes and plated into wells. T cells were re-stimulated with either media, VSVn peptide, and L1210 cells. Figure #18A shows the visual representation of the SFC/per well. The number of CD3 T cells from ICV immunized mice that produced IFN-gamma in response to L1210 cells was significantly higher than irradiated L1210 immunized and unimmunized mice. This data was quantified in Figure #18B. This demonstrated the IFN-gamma ELISpot was detecting a CD3 T cell anti-tumour immune response from the ICV.





# Figure #18. CD3 T cells from ICV immunized mice secrete IFN-gamma in response to L1210 re-stimulation.

Mice were either unimmunized, immunized with irradiated L1210 cells or the ICV. 45 days post immunization spleens were collected from all mice. CD3 T cells were negatively isolated from spleens and the pooled together based on respective cohorts. Pooled T cells were mixed with naïve splenocytes at a 4:1 ratio. The effector cells were then co-cultured with re-stimulants at a 5:1 ratio (media, VSVn peptide, 1% PFA fixed L1210 cells) for 18 hours. A: ELISpot plate visually demonstrating the spot frequency counts (SFC)/well. B: SFC/well quantified. PMA/Ionomycin (PMA/Iono) was used as a positive control. Samples were all performed in technical triplicate. N=4 for unimmunized samples and N=5 other groups. Mean and SEM are shown and a two-way ANOVA was performed on GraphPad Prism for statistical analysis.

After determining that CD3 T cells from ICV immunized mice produced IFN-gamma upon L1210 re-stimulation we sought to compare the CD4 and CD8 T cell response. Figure #19A shows the visual representation of IFN-gamma secreting spots per well. The spots were further quantified and the results demonstrated that the number of SFCs of CD4 T cells from ICV immunized mice was significantly higher than irradiated L1210 and unimmunized mice (Figure #19B). This demonstrates that CD4 T cells are producing IFN-gamma in an L1210-specific anti-tumour immune response. In comparison, CD8 T cells from ICV immunized mice produced an extremely significant number of IFN-gamma SFCs in response to L1210 re-stimulation compared to irradiated L1210 and unimmunized mice (Figure #19C). These results show that CD3, CD4, and CD8 T cells from ICV immunized mice all produce L1210-specific IFN-gamma. However, when the three T cell populations are graphed together it is interesting to note how many more SFCs are present within the CD8 T cell subset (Figure #19D). This shows that CD8 T cells are providing a strong tumour-specific anti-tumour immune response.







# Figure #19. Comparing IFN-gamma secretion upon L1210 re-stimulation in different T cell subsets.

Mice were either unimmunized, immunized with irradiated L1210 cells or the ICV. 45 days post immunization spleens were collected from all mice. Splenocytes were pooled from the appropriate cohorts and then CD4 and CD8 T cells were negatively isolated. Pooled T cells were mixed with naïve splenocytes at a 4:1 ratio. The effector cells were then co-cultured with restimulants at a 5:1 ratio (media, VSVn peptide, 1% PFA fixed L1210 cells) for 18 hours. A: ELISpot plate visually demonstrating the SFC. B: IFN-gamma secretion of CD4 T cells. C: IFN-gamma secretion of CD8 T cells. D: Comparing IFN-gamma secretion of CD3, CD4, and CD8 T cell subsets of ICV immunized mice in one graph. Samples were all performed in technical triplicate. N=4 for unimmunized samples and N=5 other groups. Mean and SEM are shown and a two-way ANOVA was performed on GraphPad Prism for statistical analysis.

#### 4.4 Identifying T cell functions in response to the ICV

#### 4.4.1 Neutralizing antibodies against MG1

Interestingly, Conrad et al. previously reported that prior exposure to MG1 and the presence of neutralizing antibodies increased the ability of the ICV to provide protection against greater tumour challenges.<sup>62</sup> These findings suggest that generation of an effective anti-viral antibody response may improve the efficacy of the vaccine and may partly explain how the relative T cell subsets contribute to vaccine efficacy. To investigate this possibility, we collected serum from unimmunized and ICV immunized mice 7 days post ICV to confirm that ICV immunized mice produce MG1 neutralizing antibodies. As expected, a neutralizing antibody assay, clearly revealed that ICV immunized mice produced a relatively high titre of MG1 neutralizing antibodies which were absent in unimmunized controls (Figure #20A). To determine whether either T cell subsets were required for this response serum from T cell depleted groups was also assessed for the presence of neutralizing antibodies. Comparable to the in vivo T cell depletion assay, ICV immunized mice were depleted of either CD4, CD8 and CD4/CD8 T cell subsets. Seven days post ICV immunization, blood was collected via cardiac puncture and serum was isolated. A neutralizing antibody was performed to determine the amount of MG1 neutralizing antibodies from each serum sample. As demonstrated before, ICV immunized mice produce MG1 neutralizing antibodies and when mice were depleted of CD8 T cells this response was unaltered. However, depletion of CD4 T cells inhibited the production of MG1 neutralizing antibodies (Figure #20B). Although further work will be required, this data suggests that CD4 T cells are required for the anti-viral immune response generated during ICV immunization.





### Figure #20. MG1 neutralizing antibody production is a CD4 T cell dependent mechanism.

**A:** 6-old old DBA/2 mice were either unimmunized (naïve) or ICV immunized once a week for three weeks. Serum was collected from mice. Serum was incubated with MG1-GFP virus for 45 minutes and then plated onto Vero cells for 72 hours. Vero cells were stained with Coomassie blue to assess the production of neutralizing anti-viral antibodies. Positive control was serum collected from a C57/BL6 mouse that had been administered MG1 virus (donated by Dominic Roy). Serum was plated in technical quadruplicate. (N=1/group). **B:** 6-week-old DBA/2 mice were depleted of either CD4, CD8, or both T cell populations. ICV immunization was administered once a week for three weeks. 7 days post immunization serum was isolated from mice and same protocol was followed as A. Plates were read on the Multiskan to measure absorbance at 570 nm. Absorbance measurements at 1:100 serum dilution. N=4 per/group. Statistical significance was calculated by a two-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post-test on GraphPad Prism.

### **5 DISCUSSION**

Currently, there are no effective treatment options for AL patients as approximately 40% of patients will relapse within 2 years following therapy. We have developed an ICV therapy for AL patients that has shown promising murine pre-clinical data and could potentially be the solution to overcome leukemia relapse. Before progressing the ICV to clinical trials, more pre-clinical data needs to be demonstrated and an *ex vivo* potency assay to monitor the patient's anti-tumour immunity from the ICV needs to be proposed. The research conducted within my thesis has demonstrated plenty of pre-clinical data characterizing the anti-tumour immune response following treatment with an ICV for leukemia. The two main questions that we were interested in answering were 1) What APC populations are activated post ICV immunization and 2) What T cell subsets are important in developing the anti-tumour immune response during ICV immunization? My thesis has also determined that an IFN-gamma ELISpot can be used to detect L1210-specific anti-tumour immunity and could be used as an *ex vivo* potency assay for future clinical trials.

#### 5.1 Activation of APC populations post ICV immunization

Generating a robust, durable adaptive immune response is contingent upon the uptake, processing and presenting of tumour antigens by professional APCs, including DCs, B cells and macrophages.<sup>45</sup> I first sought to determine what APC population were activated post ICV immunization.

Firstly, plenty of research represents CD11c+ cells as DCs<sup>53,65</sup>, even though it is known to be a heterogenous marker also found on macrophages.<sup>66</sup> Due the heterogeneity of CD11c, the DC

activation that was represented in this thesis could also be a representation of macrophage activation. Before examining macrophages in the future, proper markers will need to be researched. For example, F4/80 was originally used in this experiment as a classic macrophage marker. However, it has been reported that freshly isolated DCs from the spleen of mice are both CD11c+ and F4/80+.<sup>67</sup> Macrophages were not able to be analyzed with this marker, as the majority of the CD11c+ cells were F4/80+ in my experiment. I suggest for future research to use these macrophage markers in combination: CD38, G-protein coupled receptor 18 (Gpr18), and Formyl peptide receptor 2 (Fpr2). Jablonksi et al. has shown that these specific markers can identify murine pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages by flow cytometry.<sup>68</sup> If future research determines that macrophages are activated post ICV immunization this information could be utilized to determine if they are essential for the anti-tumour immune response by performing an *in vivo* macrophage depletion similar to Cote's et al. research.<sup>69</sup> Due to marker selection, DCs and B cells were the APCs analyzed for my thesis.

My results demonstrated an increase in the frequency of a double positive MHCII+/CD40+ DCs 24 hours post ICV immunization suggesting that the ICV was better at promoting APC activation in comparison to irradiated L1210 cells alone (Figure #6). However, CD80, an activation marker that binds to the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 on T cells to aid in activation<sup>70</sup> was not altered post immunization. An increase in CD80 activation on DCs may not be necessary for T cell activation in our model of the ICV. It is possible that there is enough baseline expression of CD80 on DCs to bind to CD28 on T cells. It is also well known that CD80 activation generally follows CD40-CD40L interactions.<sup>71</sup> It is possible that 4, 24 and 72 hours were time points that did not discover sufficient CD80 activation; different time points could be assessed. Future

research should explore this experiment again possibly using a different antibody for CD80 or trying CD86 as an activation marker.

One of the limitations of my experiment is that it is unknown if DC activation is induced by MG1 alone. Lemay et al. showed that there was no difference in DC activation markers between VSV expressing GM-CSF and VSV-ICV expressing GM-CSF even though the latter provided enhanced anti-tumour immune responses.<sup>53</sup> Future research could compare MG1 versus and ICV administration in relation to APC activation.

The apparent lack of APC activation I have observed with irradiated cells alone is consistent with previous reports from our lab where 100% of mice immunized with irradiated L1210 cells alone succumb to tumour challenge.<sup>62</sup> However, my efforts have not investigated whether strategies aimed at further enhancing APC activation, such as the use of recombinant cytokines could be exploited to make the ICV more effective at providing anti-tumour immunity. For example, GVAX is a tumour cell vaccine that has been engineered to secrete GM-CSF and recruits DCs to the vaccination site. GVAX has been reported to provide enhanced anti-tumour effects in CML patients compared to tumour cell vaccine alone.<sup>39</sup> Alkayyal et al. has also reported that an MG1-ICV expressing IL-12, reduced colon cancer tumour burden in mice and it was more effective at providing anti-tumour immunity compared to MG1-ICV alone.<sup>61</sup> Exploring how to increase DC activation post immunization could be a mechanism to further optimize the ICV.

CD19+ B cells were also analyzed to assess if they were activated post ICV immunization. The level of expression of CD40 was increased post ICV immunization, however, unlike my findings with DCs, there were no changes in MHCII (Figure #7). Furthermore, I did not observe any

increase in CD80 expression following vaccination. These results suggest that B cells are unlikely to provide an effective activation signal to T cells post immunization.

In total, these findings are in general agreement with published research wherein CD11c+ activation is observed following delivery of rhabdovirus.<sup>47,53</sup> Also, our data demonstrating the preferential activation of DCs post immunization and without concomitant stimulation of B cells to stimulate T cell activation was previously unknown.

### 5.1.1 RANTES secretion

To elicit a detectable increase in APC activation which leads to the generation of a robust antitumour T cell response requires that the ICV provide immunogenic signals that are not generated by irradiated cells alone. The viral antigens and danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) generated by infected cells are potent inducers of APC activation. However, the ineffectiveness of a vaccine prepared with C1498 cells despite similar levels of infectivity and viral replication suggests that other cell intrinsic factors may be involved in promoting APC activation and an anti-tumour immune response. Previous work in our lab has shown that L1210 cells infected with MG1 results in the production of a number of chemoattracts and inflammatory cytokines. The secretion of RANTES, a stimulator of T cell activation, was notably increased to the greatest extent following infection with MG1. These results were confirmed during my thesis demonstrating that MG1 infection and irradiation upregulated RANTES secretion (Figure #8). I also determined that there was no RANTES expression in MG1-infected and irradiated C1498 cells (Appendix – Figure #28). Based on this data, it is tantalizing to speculate that RANTES or other cytokine secretion from the ICV could be aiding in the robust DC activation of T cells post ICV immunization that is observed *in vivo*. However, this data solely represents a positive correlation between DC activation and RANTES secretion so we cannot infer causality. Could

inhibiting RANTES decrease DC activation post ICV immunization? It would be worthwhile assessing if L1210 cells infected with MG1 and irradiation co-cultured with BMDCs induced DC activation. Following this, L1210 cells could be treated with a RANTES antagonist and then infected with MG1 and irradiated to determine if RANTES is necessary for DC activation. Both FLT-3 and GM-CSF are two other known chemokines known to induce DC activation.<sup>72</sup> It would be good to note if these cytokines are induced by MG1 infection and irradiation too.

#### 5.1.2 Immunogenic Cell Death (ICD) and Anti-Tumour Immunity

Apoptosis and necrosis are two common ways that tumour cells are known to undergo cell death with cancer treatment. Tumour cell death by necrosis can lead to activation of the host's immune system by exposing tumour antigens and subsequently creating a pro-inflammatory environment.<sup>45</sup> However, immunogenic cell death (ICD) is another form of tumour cell death that leads to activation of the host's immune system against tumour cells.<sup>73</sup> Certain chemotherapy drugs are known to be either non-ICD or ICD inducers and this can correlate with the anti-tumour immune response. For example, Casares et al. reported that cell cancers treated with doxorubicin, a known ICD inducer, protects mice from subsequent tumour challenge whereas cancer cell treated with cisplatin, a non-ICD inducer does not protect mice from tumour challenge.<sup>74</sup> Irradiation is also known to cause ICD in tumour cell lines such as EL4 lymphoma and CT26 colon carcinoma.<sup>73</sup> Whole tumour cell vaccines take advantage of ICD as a way to stimulate the host's immune system against tumour antigens. Calreticulin (CRT), adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1) are the three hallmark danger signals secreted by dying tumour cells that are associated with ICD.<sup>73</sup> When tumour cells undergo ICD they upregulate CRT on the surface on their membrane, secrete ATP and HMGB1. CRT binds to CD91 on DCs which in turn promotes phagocytosis of tumour cell antigens while

ATP and HMGB1 stimulate APC recruitment and activation. Specifically, HMGB1, a nuclear protein, binds to toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on DCs which is known to stimulate the optimal presentation of tumour antigens to T cells.<sup>73</sup> Apetoh et al. reported that small-interfering RNA (siRNA) deletion of HMGB1 in ICD-induced tumour cells inhibited cross presentation of tumour antigens to CD8 T cells *in vivo*.<sup>75</sup> This shows the importance of HMBG1 aiding in the anti-tumour T cell response. Overall, I think that future research should investigate if ICD is a prominent pathway that leads to activating DCs post ICV immunization. It could be possible that the ICV induces the hallmark markers of ICD, therefore, marking it such an immunogenic vaccine.

#### 5.2 The Role of the T cell mediated anti-tumour immune response

#### 5.2.1 In vivo T cell depletion

A primary goal of my thesis work was to investigate what T cell subsets were essential for generating an anti-tumour immune response following ICV treatment. As expected, depletion of both CD4 and CD8 T cells abolished the efficacy of the ICV as all immunized mice succumbed to tumour challenge (Figure #12). Other literature has also reported similar findings when CD4/CD8 T cells are depleted. For example, it has been shown that when CD4/CD8 T cells are depleted in effective cancer immunotherapies such as colon, glioblastoma and leukemia that 100% of mice succumb to the cancer.<sup>60,61,76</sup>

However, the impact of depleting the individual T cell subsets unexpectedly revealed an essential role for the CD4 T cells alone suggesting that CD8 T cells are not essential during the vaccination stage and during the first few weeks following tumour challenge. (Figure #12). This suggests that activated DCs are most likely interacting with CD4 T cells during immunization through MHCII and this interaction is leading to an anti-tumour immune response. However,

cross presentation is still most likely occurring as 25% of CD8 depleted mice die of leukemia challenge, showing the need for direct interaction with CD8 T cells. This data suggests that CD4 T cells are needed during the vaccination stage of the ICV while CD8 T cells are dispensable. During the vaccination stage, there are no tumour cells present meaning that CD8 T cells do not have a direct target. However, during vaccination, CD4 memory T cells are most likely being generated that are required to provide anti-tumour immunity at the time of tumour challenge. Both Janssen et al. and Bevan et al. have shown that CD8 T cells that differentiate following immunization in a CD4 depleted environment have impaired proliferative capacities and have decreased long term survival.<sup>77,78</sup> It is likely that the CD8 T cells that are present in the CD4 depleted animal cannot differentiate effectively into CTLs at the time of tumour challenge in our ICV model which leads to the mice succumbing to tumour challenge. Overall, my proposed mechanism is that CD8 T cells require the help and signals offered by the CD4 T cells to effectively provide long term anti-tumour immunity.

Based on this hypothesis, it is would informative to assess what would happen if we depleted the CD4 T cells at the time of tumour challenge but left them present during vaccination. I hypothesize that CD4 memory T cells would be generated during vaccination allowing for CD8 T cells to differentiate into effector CTLs that provide anti-tumour immunity. This experiment would demonstrate the potential role of CD4 helper T cells aiding in effective CD8 T cell differentiation.

Consistent with our results, Sharma et al. have also demonstrated the need for CD4 T cells during cancer immunotherapy in lung and cervical tumour models.<sup>79</sup> Sharma et al. demonstrated that depletion of CD4 T cells 1 day prior to tumour challenge resulted in a significant decrease in the efficacy of vaccine.<sup>79</sup> Dudley et al. have also shown that 20% of human melanoma biopsies

have tumour-specific CD4 T cells and that these CD4 T cells produce tumour-specific IFNgamma.<sup>80</sup> These studies shows the role that CD4 T cells can be tumour-specific and that vaccine strategies require CD4 T cells to provide the most effective cancer immunotherapy – consistent with our model of the ICV. This research sheds light onto the critical role CD4 T cells play in cancer immunotherapy.

#### 5.2.2 Adoptive T cell transfer

To confirm our findings of the in vivo T cell depletion an adoptive T cell transfer was performed. In contrast to our depletion results, 100% of mice that received CD3 T cells from ICV vaccinated animals succumbed to leukemia challenge (Figure #13C). Although this result at first glance is surprising, a number of possibilities could explain the discrepancy. In particular, the number of CD3 T cells to adoptively transfer is not standardized and differs from paper to paper.<sup>81</sup> The number of cells that we had transferred was lower comparably suggesting that we did not inject enough CD3 T cells. Also, in our experimental design the recipients of the adoptive transfer were naïve wildtype DBA/2 mice that possessed a full immunocompetent immune system, - whereas, many studies will condition recipients prior to adoptive transfer. For example, Wrzesinski et al. have shown that lymphodepleting recipients prior to adoptive transfer enhances the anti-tumour response by increasing the innate immunity as this depletes immunosuppressive immune cell populations such as regulatory T cells.<sup>82</sup> Other studies have used immunocompromised mouse models such as athymic mice or RAG<sup>-/-</sup> deficient mice.<sup>53,83,84</sup> Immunocompromised recipients allows the host to accommodate adoptively transferred cells which aids in the proliferation and growth of the injected cells.<sup>85</sup> Given these considerations, it would be worthwhile performing the adoptive T cell transfer experiment again using an athymic or lymphodepleted recipient in the future. Ideally, it would also be helpful to track the adoptively transferred cells in the recipient to

confirm cell transfer and proliferation Unfortunately, DBA/2 mice do not have CD45.1 and CD45.2 murine models. The CD45.1 and CD45.2 are convenient models to use to track cells from a donor to recipient. C57/BL6 mice do have CD45.1 and CD45.2 murine models for their genetic background. An ICV survival study has been performed using C57/BL6 mice using the syngeneic AML cell line C1498. This model is not as effective at providing anti-tumour immunity as 25% of ICV immunized mice survive leukemia challenge compared to 95% in the DBA/L1210 model. However, studying the C57/BL6 model would be easier as these advantageous murine models could be utilized.

#### 5.2.3 In vivo killing assay

One objective of my thesis was to determine if we could correlate the increase of survival with the increase of T cell mediated killing. Development of an *ex vivo* potency assay would also allow us to test immune system alterations in CD4 and CD8 depleted mice. Also, prior to this work, our pre-clinical data demonstrating L1210 specific anti-tumour immunity has relied on survival curves.<sup>62</sup> Survival curves must be monitored up to 100 days post leukemia challenge, therefore, each pre-clinical study is very time-consuming. Hence, another added benefit of developing an *ex vivo* assay to detect L1210-specific anti-tumour immunity would be having an alterative method to detect anti-tumour immunity than survival curves. A similar approach has previously been used to evaluate tumour cell killing in other vaccination and tumour models. Fluorescently labelled splenocytes are normally pulsed with an appropriate tumour-specific peptide and control differentially labelled splenocytes are not pulsed with peptide. Unfortunately, no tumour specific antigen is currently known for the L1210 model and we attempted to modify the procedure to use whole labelled L1210 cells. The ICV provides anti-tumour immunity by presenting many potential antigens; a tumour specific peptide could be used if one were known.

This approach was plagued by several complications of the most important which was that the labelled L1210 cells were not consistently present in either unimmunized or ICV immunized spleens (Figure #14 and #15). One interpretation could be that the L1210 cells are inherently rejected in both groups at a very high rate, however, this seems unlikely given the very consistent and vastly different outcome in the survival of these treatment groups. Another, more likely issue with this approach is the differential homing properties of the control cells (splenocytes) and L1210 (leukemia) cells. In fact, it is well documented that L1210 cells do preferentially migrate to the bone marrow.<sup>86</sup> Given these barriers, we next decided to examine other methods for detecting L1210-specific anti-tumour immunity that could be translatable to the clinic. However, future ideas to optimize this assay would be to attempt pulsing splenocytes with L1210 cell lysate or using the DBA/2 syngeneic lymphoma cell line, P388, as a control.<sup>87</sup>

5.2.4 IFN-gamma ELISpot as a useful tool for evaluating anti-tumour immunity IFN-gamma ELISpots are commonly used to measure the number of T cells reactive to a specific antigen or stimulus.<sup>88</sup> Advantages of ELISpots are that they are more sensitive than ELISAs and intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) and the results allow for direct quantification of tumourreactive T cells.<sup>89,90</sup> Given that we do not have a confirmed antigenic peptide for L1210 cells we evaluated the presence of T cells reactive to whole cells. Comparison of IFN-gamma producing CD3, CD4, and CD8 T cells from unimmunized ICV immunized mice revealed that the presence of IFN-gamma producing T cells was significantly more in ICV immunized mice compared to controls. CD4 T cells produce more IFN-gamma SFCs when re-stimulated with L1210 cells suggesting that tumour-specific CD4 T cells are generated by the ICV (Figure #19B) Also, CD8 T cells from ICV immunized produce more IFN-gamma when SFCs when re-stimulated with L1210 cells compared to controls (Figure #19C). When comparing CD4 and CD8 T cells from

ICV immunized mice, there was 11x more CD8 T cells producing L1210-specific IFN-gamma than CD4 T cells (Figure #19D). Overall, both CD4 and CD8 T cells were producing L1210specific IFN-gamma. Our data suggests that CD8 T cells are providing a robust tumour-specific anti-tumour immune response generated by the ICV. However, based on our T cell depletion survival curve we know that CD4 T cells are required to provide anti-tumour immunity. Therefore, it could be possible that CD4 T cells are acting as essential helper T cells to aid in the activation and differentiation of anti-tumour CD8 T cells. For example, plenty of literature has shown the development of cytotoxic CD8 T cells requires help from CD4 T cells during vaccination.<sup>91–93</sup> Gazzinelli et al. have demonstrated that mice administered with a toxoplasma gondii vaccine develop resistance to infection and this is due to a CD8 T cell immune response. However, resistance to infection is completely abrogated when CD4 T cells are depleted during vaccination demonstrating the critical role CD4 T cells are playing to help develop a CD8 T cell response. This study even demonstrated that when CD4 T cells were depleted during vaccination, CD8 T cells produced less IFN-gamma when stimulated with the viral antigen.<sup>93</sup> Carvalho et al. also demonstrated that CD4 depletion during vaccination against malaria greatly reduced the number of virus specific- IFN-gamma secreting CD8 T cells in mice.<sup>92</sup> These studies outline the importance of CD4 T cells aiding in protective anti-viral CD8 T cell response. CD4 T cells could be depleted in ICV immunized mice during vaccination and CD8 T cells could be isolated and tested for tumour-specific IFN-gamma production. This experiment would help us answer if CD4 T cells are required during ICV immunization for the production of tumourspecific anti-tumour CD8 T cells. One mechanism could be that the cytokines produced by CD4 T cells is an essential signal to develop anti-tumour activated CD8 T cells. The classic model of CD4 T cells aiding in the activation of CD8 T cells is through CD4 T cell cytokine secretion.

Activated APCs will present antigens to CD4 T cells inducing CD4 T cell cytokine secretion. Following this, the same APC will present antigens to CD8 T cells via MHCI and the cytokines produced by CD4 T cells will act as chemo-attractants for the CD8 T cells.<sup>94</sup> For example, Green et al. showed that IFN-gamma secreting CD4 T cells were required for the production of virusspecific CD8 T cells.<sup>91</sup> This demonstrates the importance of CD4 T cell cytokine secretion. CD40-CD40L interactions is another published mechanism as to how CD4 T cells help activate CD8 T cells. CD4 T cells are able to recognize antigens presented by MHCII on APCs. Through the interaction of the CD40-CD40L, CD4 T cells are able to "super-activate" the APC by increasing the expression of CD80/CD86 on the APC. This then allows for the APC to efficiently activate CD8 T cells by MHCI antigen presenation.<sup>94,95</sup> There could be many different ways as to how CD4 T cells are possibly aiding in CD8 T cell activation during ICV immunization and future research should explore these mechanisms. My data helps explain the mechanisms of how the ICV in providing anti-tumour immunity in vivo. It also demonstrated that we were able to detect an L1210-specific anti-tumour immune response from the ICV. This is valuable for future clinical trials as a potency assay will be needed to quantify the anti-tumour immune response in patients immunized with the ICV. The IFN-gamma ELISpot could be the potency assay used for clinical applications.

#### 5.3 Identifying T cell functions in response to the ICV

#### 5.3.1 Neutralizing antibody production against MG1

After I determined that CD4 T cells were essential for generating anti-tumour immunity in our ICV model we were also interested in assessing their role in anti-viral immunity. It was evident that ICV immunized mice produce MG1 neutralizing antibodies post immunization (Figure #20) whereas unimmunized controls do not. When ICV immunized mice were depleted of CD4 T

cells MG1 neutralizing antibody production was abolished. In comparison, neutralizing antibody production was unaltered in CD8 depleted ICV immunized mice. These results are consistent with research demonstrating CD4 T cells are necessary for B cell maturation and antibody production.<sup>96</sup> Without CD4 T cells, B cells are unable to be activated, therefore, production of anti-viral and anti-tumour antibodies is inhibited.

It is curious how the ICV requires CD4 T cells for both anti-tumour and anti-viral immunity. Conrad et al. has demonstrated that pre-existing MG1 neutralizing antibodies prior to ICV administration increased the efficacy of the vaccine.<sup>62</sup> Similarly, Yang et al. has shown that preexisting neutralizing antibodies against reovirus prior to immunization did not alter the efficacy of reovirus in animal models of glioblastoma.<sup>97</sup> This data does suggest that the anti-tumour and anti-viral immune response are intertwined; however, the mechanism is far from known. This research has highlighted that CD4 T cells could be a key immune cell involved in connecting these two immune responses. One hypothesis could be that the ICV activates CD4 T cells which in turn activates B cells to produce not only anti-viral antibodies, but also anti-tumour antibodies against leukemia cells. Another hypothesis could be that pre-existing neutralizing antibodies coat the ICV cells, making them more likely to be taken up by APCs, creating an ever more immunogenic vaccine. Future research should determine if the ICV promotes anti-tumour antibodies against leukemia specific cells.

### **6 CONCLUSIONS**

AL is in need of a more effective treatment option as 40% of patients end up relapsing within 2 years post-standard therapy. The ICV is a promising and novel treatment method for AL that is in the process of progressing to future clinical trials. The goal of the ICV in the clinic would be

to collect AL patient's lymphoblasts at the time of cancer diagnosis. Patient's lymphoblasts would be sent to the lab, infected with MG1 and irradiated, to generate the personalized ICV. Prior to administering the ICV, patients would receive standard chemotherapy treatment to treat their AL. Post chemotherapy, the ICV would be administered to patients. The ICV should generate a patient-specific anti-leukemia response *in vivo* that should prevent AL relapse by generating immunological memory. (Figure #21). Throughout ICV treatment the patient's antileukemic immunity would be monitored with an *ex vivo* potency assay.

Before advancing the ICV to the clinic, an ample amount of pre-clinical data must be demonstrated as well as an *ex vivo* potency assay to track anti-leukemic immunity. This thesis has provided a significant amount of pre-clinical data demonstrating the integral requirements of the immune system utilized by the ICV to provide anti-tumour immunity. Our data has shown that an ICV vaccination strategy is more effective at promoting DC activation *in vivo* compared to irradiated L1210 cells alone and suggests that at least part of the improved efficacy of this strategy at stimulating an anti-tumour response is due to this difference. In addition, we have confirmed and expanded upon previous data and established an essential anti-leukemic role for CD4 T cells in tumour naïve recipients. However, the relative importance of the generation of MG1 neutralizing antibody production or IFN-gamma production by CD4 T cells will require further examination. This data also suggests that there is an critical relationship between CD4 and CD8 T cells during ICV immunization and that CD4 T cells are likely acting as helper T cells to aid in the robust anti-tumour activation of CD8 T cells.

This thesis has demonstrated that the IFN-gamma ELISpot assay detects L1210-specific antileukemic immunity for the ICV. Based on our results, the IFN-gamma ELISpot has potential to be used as the *ex vivo* potency assay to monitor patient's anti-tumour response during ICV treatment. Detecting *ex vivo* anti-tumour responses is big leap to progress the ICV from bench to bedside.

Overall, the ICV is a promising therapeutic for AL patients that should provide long-term antitumour immunity. This thesis will help progress the ICV towards clinical trials by providing robust pre-clinical data and demonstrating a sufficient *ex vivo* potency assay to monitor antitumour immunity.


#### Figure # 21. Bringing the ICV from bench to bedside

At the time of AL diagnosis, a patient's leukemic cells would be collected. Leukemia cells are infected with MG1 virus and irradiated in the laboratory to generate the personalized ICV. Post AL diagnosis, patients would undergo chemotherapy to treat their leukemia. After chemotherapy is complete and remission has been achieved patients would be given the ICV to prevent AL relapse and provide long-term anti-tumour immunity.

# **CONTRIBUTION OF COLLABORATORS**

Julia Petryk, Bell lab senior animal technician, performed intra-venous injections for all experiments.

Christiano Tanese de Souza, Auer lab senior animal technician, harvested lymph nodes.

Leah Monette, summer student, helped collect supernatants for the RANTES ELISA. Leah helped perform preliminary ELISAs and performed the RANTES ELISA in my thesis.

Dr. Michael Kennedy aided in experimental design and research plan.

## APPENDIX



### Figure #22. B cell gating strategy.

Spleens were collected from mice at 4, 24, and 72 hours post irradiated L1210 and ICV immunization. Samples were stained with antibodies for flow cytometry and data was analyzed. B cell gating strategy is shown. Cells are gated on lymphocytes, single cells, viable cells, CD11c- and CD19+ cells. Analysis was done on the double positive MHCII+/CD40+ subset.



CD3/CD4





CD3/CD4

#### Figure #23. In vivo CD4 and CD8 antibody dose optimization.

DBA/2 mice were either injected intra-peritoneally with PBS (control), 100, 200, or 500  $\mu$ g of CD4 or CD8 antibody on day 0 and 1. 24 hours following the last antibody injections spleens were collected. Splenocytes were stained with CD3, CD4, and CD8 antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. A: CD4 antibody dose response B: CD8 antibody does response.



CD3+/CD4+

#### Figure #24. T cells reconstitute 21 Days post L1210 challenge.

Blood was collected from mice 14 days and 21 days post L1210 challenge (15 and 22 days post last antibody injection respectively) to determine if the T cells would repopulate after challenge. Blood was stained with CD3, CD4 and CD8 antibodies. T cells remain depleted 15 days post challenge and reconstitute by 21 dpc (days post challenge).





#### Figure #25. Leukemia cell do not seem to migrate to other organs than the spleen.

 $2x10^7$  CTV labelled L1210 cells and  $2x10^7$  CFSE labelled splenocytes were mixed together and injected into the tail vein of an unimmunized mouse. 18 hours post injection, the spleen, blood, bone marrow, lungs, liver, and brain were collected. Flow cytometry was done on all organs to determine if the L1210 cells migrated or homed to different organs in the body compared to the control splenocytes.



#### Figure #26. Isolation of a pure population of CD3 T cells.

Spleens were collected from unimmunized or ICV immunized mice and CD3 T cells were isolated using a negative selection kit. Isolated T cells were stained with a CD3 antibody and flow cytometry was performed. CD3 T cell isolation was > 88% pure. These T cells were then used as effector cells for a preliminary IFN-gamma ELISpot assay.



#### Figure #27. Isolation of CD3, CD4, and CD8 T cell populations.

Spleens were collected from unimmunized, irradiated L1210 immunized, and ICV immunized mice and CD3, CD4, and CD8 T cells were isolated using a negative selection kit. Isolated T cells were stained with a CD3, CD4 and CD8 antibody and flow cytometry was performed. All T cells isolations were > 90% pure. Data shown in a representative flow cytometry plot. These T cells were then used as effector cells for an IFN-gamma ELISpot assay.



#### Figure #28. C1498 cells do not secrete RANTES.

C1498 cells were plated at a density of  $3.75 \times 10^5$  cells/plate in a total volume of 7.5 ml. L1210 cells were either irradiated (30-gray), infected with MG1 virus at an MOI of 10 for 18 hours, or MG1 infected and irradiated (MG1-ICV). Zero hours post irradiation and/or infection, cells were centrifuged and supernatants were collected. 100 µl of the supernatants were analyzed for RANTES secretion using a RANTES ELISA. N=3 for all groups. ELISA performed by summer student, Leah Monette.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Jeha S, Kantarjian HM. Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer*. 2003;98(7):1337-1354. doi:10.1002/cncr.11664.
- 2. Hoffbrand A V., Moss PAH, Pettit JE. *Essential Haematology*. Malden, MA: Blackwell Pub.; 2006.
- 3. Miller KD, Siegel RL, Lin CC, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2016. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2016;66(4):271-289. doi:10.3322/caac.21349.
- 4. Liu-Dumlao T, Kantarjian H, Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Ravandi F. Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Current treatment options. *Curr Oncol Rep.* 2012;14(5):387-394. doi:10.1007/s11912-012-0247-7.
- 5. Belson M, Kingsley B, Holmes A. Risk Factors for Acute Leukemia in Children: A Review. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2006;115(1):138-145. doi:10.1289/ehp.9023.
- 6. Mahoney MC, Moysich KB, McCarthy PL, et al. The Chernobyl childhood leukemia study: background & amp; lessons learned. *Environ Heal*. 2004;3(1):12. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-3-12.
- 7. Kohlmann A, Schoch C, Dugas M, et al. New insights into MLL gene rearranged acute leukemias using gene expression profiling: shared pathways, lineage commitment, and partner genes. *Leukemia*. 2005;19(6):953-964. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403746.
- 8. Krajinovic M, Labuda D, Sinnett D. Childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: genetic determinants of susceptibility and disease outcome. *Rev Env Heal*. 2001;16(4):263-279. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12041882.
- 9. Alexander FE, Patheal SL, Biondi A, et al. Transplacental Chemical Exposure and Risk of Infant Leukemia with MLL Gene Fusion Transplacental Chemical Exposure and Risk of Infant Leukemia with. *Cancer Res.* 2001;61:2542-2546.
- 10. Hunger SP, Lu X, Devidas M, et al. Improved survival for children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia between 1990 and 2005: A report from the children's oncology group. *J Clin Oncol.* 2012;30(14):1663-1669. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.37.8018.
- 11. Paietta E. Mini-review Assessing minimal residual disease (MRD) in leukemia: a changing definition and concept? *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 2002;29:459-465. doi:10.1038/sj/bmt/1703388.
- 12. Roboz GJ. Current treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Curr Opin Oncol.* 2012;24(6):711-719. doi:10.1097/CCO.0b013e328358f62d.
- 13. Forman SJ, Rowe JM. The myth of the second remission of acute leukemia in the adult. *Blood.* 2013;121(7):1077-1082. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-08-234492.
- 14. Stanze D, Beck J, Diedrich H, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy , prognostic factors , and performance of stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* 2012;120(10):2032-2042. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-12-

399287.The.

- 15. Fielding AK, Richards SM, Chopra R, et al. Outcome of 609 adults after relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL); an MRC UKALL12 / ECOG 2993 study. *Blood*. 2007;109(3):944-951. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-05-018192.The.
- 16. Couzin-Frankel J. Cancer Immunotherapy. *Science (80- )*. 2013;342(December):1432-1434.
- 17. Naidoo J, Page DB, Wolchok JD. Immune Checkpoint Blockade. *Hematol Clin NA*. 2014;28(3):585-600. doi:10.1016/j.hoc.2014.02.002.
- Barbee MS. Current Status and Future Directions of the Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors Ipilimumab, Pembrolizumab, and ... Current Status and Future Directions of the Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors Ipilimumab, Pembrolizumab, and Nivolumab in Oncology. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2015;48(8):907-937. doi:10.1177/1060028015586218.
- 19. Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science (80- )*. 1996;5256(23):28-30.
- 20. Weber JS, Angelo SPD, Minor D, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2015;16:375-384. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70076-8.
- 21. Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, et al. Improved Survival with Ipilimumab in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2010;363(8):711-723.
- 22. Xerri L, Devilard E, Hassoun J, Olive D, Birg F. In vivo expression of the CTLA4 inhibitory receptor in malignant and reactive cells from human lymphomas. *J Pathol.* 1997;183(2):182-187. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(199710)183:2<182::AID-PATH918>3.0.CO;2-I.
- 23. Thanarajasingam G, Thanarajasingam U, Ansell SM. Immune checkpoint blockade in lymphoid malignancies. *FEBS J*. 2016;283:2233-2244. doi:10.1111/febs.13668.
- 24. Ok CY, Young KH. Checkpoint inhibitors in hematological malignancies. *J Hematol Oncol.* 2017;10(103):1-16. doi:10.1186/s13045-017-0474-3.
- 25. Scott EC, Gutierrez M, Schuster SJ, et al. PD-1 Blockade with Nivolumab in Relapsed or Refractory Hodgkin's Lymphoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2015;372(4):311-319. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411087.
- 26. Wei G, Ding L, Wang J, Hu Y, Huang H. Advances of CD19 directed chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells in refractory / relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Exp Hematol Oncol.* 2017:1-7. doi:10.1186/s40164-017-0070-9.
- 27. Aplenc R, Ph D, Porter DL, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor–Modified T Cells for Acute Lymphoid Leukemia. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;368(16):1509-1519. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215134.
- 28. Brentjens R, Davila ML, Riviere I, et al. CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular

remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* 2013;5(177). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005930.CD19-targeted.

- 29. Daniel W Lee, James N Kochenderfer, Maryalice Stetler-Steveson, Yongzhi K Cui, Cindy Delbrook, Steven A Feldman, Terry J Fry, Rimas Orenta, Marianna Sabatino, Nirali N Shah, Seth M Steinberg, Dave Stroncek, Nick Tschernia, Constance Yuan, Hua Zhang, Ling CLM. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet*. 2015;385(9967):517-528.
- 30. Ruella M, Barrett DM, Kenderian SS, et al. Dual CD19 and CD123 targeting prevents antigen-loss relapses after CD19-directed immunotherapies. *J Clin Invest*. 2016;126(10). doi:10.1172/JCI87366.(CTL019).
- 31. Xu XJ, Tang YM. Cytokine release syndrome in cancer immunotherapy with chimeric antigen receptor engineered T cells. *Cancer Lett.* 2014;343(2):172-178. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.10.004.
- 32. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case Report of a Serious Adverse Event Following the Administration of T Cells Transduced With a Chimeric Antigen Receptor Recognizing ErbB2. *Mol Ther*. 2009;18(4):843-851. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.24.
- 33. Turtle, C. J., Sommermeyer, D., Berger, C., Hudecek, M., Shank, D. M., Steevens, N. N., Budiarto, T. M., Karimi, M., Chaney, C. N., DeVito, A. M., Heimfeld, S., Jensen, M. C., Riddell, S. R., & Maloney DG. Therapy of B Cell Malignancies with CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells of Defined Subset Composition. *Blood*. 2014;124(21):384-391.
- 34. Srivatsan S, Patel JM, Bozeman EN, et al. Allogenic tumour cell vaccines: The promise and limitations in clinical trials. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2014;10(1):52-63.
- 35. Mohammed S., Bakshi N., Chaudri N., Akhter J. AM. Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines: Past, Present, and Future. *Adv Cancer Res.* 2013;119(3):421-475. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-407190-2.00007-1.Therapeutic.
- Jelovac D, Emens LA. Whole-Cell Vaccines. In: Marshall JL, ed. Cancer Therapeutic Targets. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2015:1-14. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-6613-0\_148-1.
- 37. Eager R, Nemunaitis J. GM-CSF gene-transduced tumor vaccines. *Mol Ther*. 2005;12(1):18-27. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.02.012.
- Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, et al. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1993;90(April):3539-3543. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.8.3539.
- 39. Dash PK, Gorantla S, Gendelman HE, et al. K562/GM-CSF Immunotherapy Reduces Tumor Burden in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Patients with Residual Disease on Imatinib Mesylate. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2011;31(9):3148-3157. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5473-

10.2011.Loss.

- 40. Keller BA, Bell JC, Bell JC. Oncolytic viruses immunotherapeutics on the rise. *J Mol Med.* 2016;94:979-991. doi:10.1007/s00109-016-1453-9.
- 41. Andtbacka RHI, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, et al. Talimogene Laherparepvec Improves Durable Response Rate in Patients With Advanced Melanoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015;33(25):2780-2788. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.58.3377.
- 42. Brun J, McManus D, Lefebvre C, et al. Identification of Genetically Modified Maraba Virus as an Oncolytic Rhabdovirus. *Mol Ther*. 2010;18(8):1440-1449. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.103.
- 43. Breitbach CJ, Silva NS De, Falls TJ, et al. Targeting Tumor Vasculature With an Oncolytic Virus. *Mol Ther*. 2011;19(5):886-894. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.26.
- 44. Arulanandam R, Angarita FA, Addison CL, et al. VEGF-Mediated Induction of PRD1-BF1/Blimp1 Expression Sensitizes Tumor Vasculature to Oncolytic Virus Infection. *Cancer Cell*. 2015;28(2):210-224. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2015.06.009.
- 45. Thomas J Kindt, Richard A Goldsby, Barbarda Anne Osborne JK. *Kuby Immunology*. New York, NY: Freeman Pub; 2007.
- 46. Norbury C et al. Visualizing priming of virus-specifc CD8+ T-cells by infected dendritic cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol*. 2002;10(1038):265-271.
- 47. Zhang J, Tai L-H, Ilkow CS, et al. Maraba MG1 Virus Enhances Natural Killer Cell Function via Conventional Dendritic Cells to Reduce Postoperative Metastatic Disease. *Mol Ther.* 2014;22(7):1320-1332. doi:10.1038/mt.2014.60.
- 48. Raport CJ, Gosling J, Schweickart VL, Gray PW, Charo IF. Molecular Cloning and Functional Characterization of a Novel Human CC Chemokine Receptor (CCR5) for RANTES, MIP-1 □, and MIP-1 □ \*. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271(29):17161-17166.
- 49. Caux C, Ait-yahia S, I KC, et al. Dendritic cell biology and regulation of dendritic cell trafficking by chemokines. *Springer Semin Immunopathol.* 2000:345-369.
- 50. Natalia Lapteva, Melissa Aldrich, David Weksberg, Lisa Rollins, Tatiana Goltsova S-YC and XFH. Targeting the Intratumoral Dendritic Cells by the Oncolytic Adenoviral Vaccine Expressing RANTES Elicits Potent Antitumor Immunity. *J Immunother*. 2009;32(2):145-156. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e318193d31e.Targeting.
- Lavergne E, Combadière C, Iga M, et al. Intratumoral CC Chemokine Ligand 5 Overexpression Delays Tumor Growth and Increases Tumor Cell Infiltration. *J Immunol*. 2004;173:3755-3762. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.3755.
- 52. Schirrmacher V. Fifty Years of Clinical Application of Newcastle Disease Virus: Time to Celebrate! *Biomedicines*. 2016;4(3):14. doi:10.3390/biomedicines4030016.
- 53. Lemay CG, Rintoul JL, Kus A, et al. Harnessing oncolytic virus-mediated antitumor immunity in an infected cell vaccine. *Mol Ther*. 2012;20(9):1791-1799. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.128.

- 54. Keene BYJ, Forman J. Helper Activity is Required for the In Vivo Generation of Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes. *J o.* 1982;155(March):768-782.
- 55. Broeke LT Van Den, Daschbach E, Elaine K, Andringa G, Berzofsky JA. Dendritic Cell-Induced Activation of Adaptive and Innate Antitumor Immunity. *J Exp Med*. 2003;171(11):5842-5852. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5842.
- 56. Free R, Division S, Porakishvili N. Cytotoxic CD4 T cells in patients with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia kill via a perforin-mediated pathway. *Haematologica*. 2004;89:435-443.
- 57. Zanetti M, Zanetti M. Tapping CD4 T Cells for Cancer Immunotherapy: The Choice of Personalized Genomics. *J Immunol*. 2015;194:2049-2056. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402669.
- 58. Brown DM. Cytolytic CD4 cells : Direct mediators in infectious disease and malignancy. *Cell Immunol*. 2010;262(2):89-95. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2010.02.008.
- 59. Hirschhorn-cymerman D, Budhu S, Kitano S, et al. Induction of tumoricidal function in CD4 + T cells is associated with concomitant memory and terminally differentiated phenotype. *J Exp Med.* 2012;209(11). doi:10.1084/jem.20120532.
- Nelles ME, Moreau JM, Furlonger CL, Berger A, Medin JA, Paige CJ. Murine Splenic CD4 b T Cells, Induced by Innate Immune Cell Interactions and Secreted Factors, Develop Antileukemia Cytotoxicity. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2014:1113-1125. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0208.
- 61. Alkayyal AA, Tai L-H, Kennedy MA, et al. NK-cell Recruitment Necessary for Eradication of Peritoneal Carcinomatosis with an IL12-Expressing Maraba Virus Cellular Vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2017;(9):canimm.0162.2016. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0162.
- 62. Conrad DP, Tsang J, Maclean M, et al. Leukemia cell-rhabdovirus vaccine: Personalized immunotherapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2013;19(14):3832-3843. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3199.
- 63. Clemente T, Dominguez MR, Vieira NJ, Rodrigues MM, Amarante-Mendes GP. In vivo assessment of specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte killing. *Methods*. 2013;61(2):105-109. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2013.02.007.
- 64. Clarke SRmK, Barnden M, Kurts C, Carbone FR, Miller JF, Heath WR. Characterization of the ovalbumin-specific TCR transgenic line OT-I: MHC elements for positive and negative selection. *Immunol Cell Biol.* 2000;78(2):110-117. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1711.2000.00889.x.
- 65. Singh-jasuja H, Thiolat A, Ribon M, et al. The mouse dendritic cell marker CD11c is down-regulated upon cell activation through Toll-like receptor triggering. *Immunobiology*. 2013;218(1):28-39. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2012.01.021.
- 66. Hume DA. Macrophages as APC and the Dendritic Cell Myth. *J Immunol*. 2008;181:5829-5835. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.9.5829.

- 67. Leenen PJM, Radosevic K, Voerman JSA, et al. Heterogeneity of Mouse Spleen Dendritic Cells: In Vivo Phagocytic Activity, Expression of Macrophage Markers, and Subpopulation Turnover. *J Immunol*. 1998;160:2166-2173.
- 68. Jablonski KA, Amici SA, Webb LM, et al. Novel markers to delineate murine M1 and M2 macrophages. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(12):5-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0145342.
- 69. Cote CK, Rea KM, Norris SL, Van Rooijen N, Welkos SL. The use of a model of in vivo macrophage depletion to study the role of macrophages during infection with Bacillus anthracis spores. *Microb Pathog.* 2004;37(4):169-175. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2004.06.013.
- Lim TS, Goh JKH, Mortellaro A, Lim CT, Hämmerling GJ, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. CD80 and CD86 Differentially Regulate Mechanical Interactions of T-Cells with Antigen-Presenting Dendritic Cells and B-Cells. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(9):1-8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045185.
- 71. Haase C, Michelsen BK, Jørgensen TN. CD40 is necessary for activation of naive T cells by a dendritic cell line in vivo but not in vitro. *Scand J Immunol*. 2004;59(3):237-245. doi:10.1111/j.0300-9475.2004.01390.x.
- 72. Prahlad Parajuli, R.Lee Mosley, Vladimir Pisarev, Jennifer Chavez, Amy Ulrich, Michelle Varney, Rakesh K Singh JET. Flt3 ligand and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor preferentially expand and stimulate different dendritic and T-cell subsets. *Exp Hematol.* 2001;29(10):1185-1193.
- 73. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2013;31(1):51-72. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008.
- 74. Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med*. 2005;202(12):1691-1701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915.
- 75. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med*. 2007;9(13):1050-1063. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233534817\_Immunogenic\_Cell\_Death\_in\_Canc er\_Therapy.
- Bridle BW, Li J, Jiang S, et al. Immunotherapy Can Reject Intracranial Tumor Cells without Damaging the Brain despite Sharing the Target Antigen. *J Immunol*. 2010;184:4269-4275. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901447.
- 77. Janssen EM, Lemmens EE, Wolfe T, Christen U, von Herrath MG, Schoenberger SP. CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Nature*. 2003;421(6925):852-856. doi:10.1038/nature01441.
- 78. Bevan JAS and MJ. TRAIL Deficiency Does Not Rescue Impaired CD8+ T Cell Memory Generated in the Absence of CD4+ T Cell Help. *J Immunol*. 2008;180(7):4570-4576. doi:10.1007/s11103-011-9767-z.Plastid.
- 79. Sharma RK, Yolcu ES, Srivastava AK, Shirwan H. CD4 + T Cells Play a Critical Role in

the Generation of Primary and Memory Antitumor Immune Responses Elicited by SA-4-1BBL and TAA-Based Vaccines in Mouse Tumor Models. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(9):1-8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073145.

- 80. Friedman KM, Prieto PA, Devillier LE, et al. Tumor-specific CD4 + Melanoma Tumorinfiltrating. *J Immunother*. 2012;35(5):400-408.
- Matheu MP, Cahalan MD, Parker I. General Approach to Adoptive Transfer and Cell Labeling for Immunoimaging. *Cold Spring Harb Protoc*. 2011:180-185. doi:10.1101/pdb.prot5565.
- Palmer C, Gattinoni L, Yu Z, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Increased intensity lymphodepletion enhances tumor treatment efficacy of adoptively transferred tumorspecific T cells. *J Immunother*. 2010;33(1):1-7. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181b88ffc.Increased.
- Carretero, Rafael Sektioglu, Ibrahim M Garbi, Natalio Salgado, Oscar C Beckhove, Phillipp Hammerling GJ. Eosinophils orchestrate cancer rejection by normalizing tumor vessels and enhancing infiltration of CD8 T cells . *Nat Immunol.* 2015;16(6):609-617. doi:10.1038/ni.3159.
- Gautreaux MD, Gelder FB, Deitch EA, Berg RD. Adoptive Transfer of T Lymphocytes to T-Cell-Depleted Mice Inhibits Escherichia coli Translocation from the Gastrointestinal Tract. *Infect Immun*. 1995;63(10):3827-3834.
- 85. Muranski P, Boni A, Wrzesinski C, et al. Increased intensity lymphodepletion and adoptive immunotherapy—how far can we go? *Nat Clin Pract Oncol*. 2006;3(12):668-681. doi:10.1038/ncponc0666.
- 86. Xu C, Zhang Y, Rolfe PA, et al. Combination therapy with NHS-muIL12 and avelumab (anti-PD-L1) enhances antitumor efficacy in preclinical cancer models. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2017:1-32. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0483.
- 87. Badiner GJ, Moy BC, Smith KS, Tarpley WG, Groppi VE, Bhuyan BK. P388 leukaemia cells resistant to the anthracycline menogaril lack multidrug resistant phenotype. *Br J Cancer*. 1990;62(3):378-384. doi:10.1038/bjc.1990.302.
- 88. Carvalho LH, Hafalla JCR, Zavala F. ELISPOT assay to measure antigen-specific murine CD8+ T cell responses. *J Immunol Methods*. 2001;252(1-2):207-218. doi:10.1016/S0022-1759(01)00331-3.
- 89. Carter LL, Swain SL. Single cell analyses of cytokine production. *Curr Opin Immunol*. 1997;9(2):177-182. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(97)80132-X.
- 90. Tanguay S. KJ. Direct comparison of ELISPOT and ELISA-based assays for detection of individual cytokine-secreting cells. *Lymphokine Cytokine Res.* 1994;13(4):259-263.
- 91. Green AM, Difazio R, Flynn JL. IFN-gamma from CD4 T cells is essential for host survival and enhances CD8 T cell function during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *J Immunol.* 2012;190(1):270-277. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200061.
- 92. Carvalho LH, Sano G-I, Hafalla JCR, Morrot A, Curotto de Lafaille M a, Zavala F. IL-4-

secreting CD4+ T cells are crucial to the development of CD8+ T-cell responses against malaria liver stages. *Nat Med.* 2002;8(2):166-170. doi:10.1038/nm0202-166.

- 93. Gazzinelli RT, Hakim FT, Hieny S, Shearer GM, Sher A. Synergistic role of CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes in IFN-gamma production and protective immunity induced by an attenuated Toxoplasma gondii vaccine. *J Immunol*. 1991;146:286-292. http://www.jimmunol.org/content/146/1/286.short.
- 94. Ostrand-Rosenberg S. CD4+ T lymphocytes: a critical component of antitumor immunity. *Cancer Invest*. 2005;23(5):413-419. doi:10.1081/CNV-200067428.
- 95. den Haan JMM, Bevan MJ. A novel helper role for CD4 T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2000;97(24):12950-12952. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.24.12950.
- 96. Janeway CA Jr, Travers P, Walport M et al. B-cell activation by armed helper T cells. In: *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease*. New York, NY: Garland Science; 2001.
- 97. Yang WQ, Lun X, Palmer CA, et al. Efficacy and safety evaluation of human reovirus type 3 in immunocompetent animals: Racine and nonhuman primates. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2004;10(24):8561-8576. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0940.